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Statement of the Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank 
 

Loyalty of the clients and commencement of new business cooperation, prudent credit policy, growing demand of 
the Latvian business community and population for savings and investment services as well as successful ongoing 
implementation of the new SEB Group business model and the professional team – those were the key factors 
influencing the successful development of SEB Unibanka’s business in 2007. The steady rise in business 
volumes, efficiency and quality in 2007 brought SEB Unibanka net profit of 77 million lats or 81% more than in  
2006 including the profit of 19 million lats earned in proceeds from the major sale of the Bank’s real estate. 
However, even excluding this one-off deal, 42% increase of the result testifies to stable growth.  

SEB Unibanka in 2007 continued to operate in the situation of fast economic growth; however, the year 2007 was 
more complicated than the previous one due to the considerable rise in the risks caused by the imbalance of the 
Latvian economy. Similarly to the previous periods, the economy was driven by domestic consumption, spending 
spree, activities in the service sector as well as exports. The lack of economic equilibrium was especially seen in 
the soaring inflation and costs, scarcity of labour force, both in terms of quantity and quality, and the record high 
current account deficit in the balance of payments.  And yet, already in the second half of the year the economic 
stabilisation measures implemented by the government and the businesses in order to cool down the red-hot 
consumption started bringing fruit and sending signals about significant changes in the economy in the coming 
years. In 2008 the Latvian economy is expected to enter a new cycle characterised by a slower growth rate, more 
prudent economic development policy, business activities and household spending. Provided that the government 
manages to implement the Economic Stabilisation Plan recommended by the experts, already in the second half of 
the year the competitiveness of Latvia and its business environment should improve, industrial output increase and 
exports attain considerable stability of growth. And yet in 2008 we shall still have to face such negative economic 
factors as high inflation, rising costs, struggling labour market, structural changes in the economy. Additional factor 
is the negative trend in the global financial markets that will influence Latvia too.    

At this development stage of the Latvian economy one of the priorities for SEB Unibanka’s business activity in 
2007 was a particularly cautious and prudent crediting policy which at the same time implied very forward-looking 
future development.  Being fully aware of the Bank’s corporate responsibility for the balanced development of the 
national economy SEB Unibanka sooner than other banks started to address the issues of the Latvian economy 
and focus on the development of more prudent lending policy in Latvia.  The Bank fully supports the government’s 
endeavours to balance credit volumes by closely observing the requirements of the normative acts to make 
borrowing a more responsible decision than it has been in many cases before.  

By the end of the reporting period the net worth of loans granted by SEB Unibanka had reached 2.6 billion lats 
since the beginning of the year having increased by 19% or 414 million lats. This growth rate basically 
corresponded to the crediting plans that compared to the initial targets in the first months of the year were cut 
almost by half.  At the same time, it should be mentioned that SEB Unibanka does and will continue to support 
financially strong and well-substantiated credit projects. Against the background of the curbed growth of the credit 
portfolio the deposits entrusted to SEB Unibanka by its clients in 2007 rose by 18% and reached 1.4 billion lats. A 
healthy growth rate was observed in the alternative long-term investment products provided by the Bank’s 
subsidiaries.   

SEB Unibanka generally occupies a stable place among the leading commercial banks of Latvia – it services 
almost a quarter of all the Latvian residents’ deposits and the fifth part of Latvia’s credit market as well as holds the 
leading position in the 3rd pillar pension system and life insurance services.   
Given the ongoing integration in the SEB Group, the year 2007 saw a number of structural changes at  SEB 
Unibanka ensuring more efficient work and adhering to the same criteria and quality standards throughout the 
entire  SEB Group. First of all, it should be mentioned that 2007 saw the second change of the senior executive 
since the Bank’s foundation: In the middle of 2007 Viesturs Neimanis was succeeded in his post by the senior 
vice-president Ain�rs Ozols. However, in addition to his personal future plans Viesturs Neimanis kindly agreed to 
share his experience and participate in the Bank’s activities in the advisory capacity. 
In 2007 according to the strategy of the SEB Group operating in the Baltic countries the banks started to integrate 
their retail and corporate service structures and product groups comprising mutually related or complementary 
products. In the course of integration the units were restructured and new ones established while the internal 
reporting and data processing systems were changed. In 2007 a new department was created to handle cash 
management, trade finance and securities custody operations which is a direct reflection of the parent company 
SEB Global Transaction Services structure in Latvia. The reporting period saw major structural changes in the 
credits where two new units were established to focus on the credit risks of various industries, the largest 
companies in each industry and on assessment of credit risk–related business projects in the regions.  
In order to use SEB total potential for achievement of the highest results in client satisfaction and financial 
performance in parallel with structural changes since 2007  a single corporate philosophy, standard approach to 
problem solving is being introduced and realisation of well-founded innovative ideas and initiatives in different 
situations are encouraged. By the end of the year the SEB client satisfaction indicator had exceeded the result of 
2006 both in the private and the corporate segment. 
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Statement of the Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank (continued) 
 
In 2007 SEB Unibanka continued to upgrade its electronic services receiving positive response from the Bank’s 
clients – at the end of December SEB Unibanka’s Internet banking solution Ibanka for everyday payments was 
used by more than 397 thousand clients, since the beginning of the year the number of Ibanka users had grown by 
82 thousand. In the reporting period the number of services available at the Internet bank was considerably 
enriched and now the clients are able, for example, to make transactions in SEB investment funds and see the 
data about their insurance policies. In the future more opportunities will be provided by Ibanka for SEB Life 
insurance clients to enable them to electronically make various alterations in their insurance policies and freely 
change their investment fund units when investing their savings in the funds. The number of SMS banka users 
over the year grew by 37% – by the end of December this service was used already  by 286 thousand clients. 
Payment cards with SEB Unibanka logo are held by more than 526 thousand clients, besides, SEB Unibanka 
provides all the newly issued and renewed cards with chips (inbuilt microprocessors).  The Bank actively continues 
to develop the infrastructure required for acceptance of payment cards – by the end of December in the retail 
outlets throughout Latvia SEB Unibanka had provided 4389 POS terminals enabling the clients to make their 
payments with cards, whereas for cash withdrawals and payment of bills the bank had installed 204 ATMs, 
including ten cash in-payment/withdrawal ATMs. The payment options in the ATMs have been increased including 
the opportunity to pay for mobile telephone services and to increase the balance of prepayment phone cards.   

The year was stable and successful also for SEB Unibanka subsidiaries: SEB Life and SEB Unipensija won 
leading positions in their respective markets while the operations of SEB Unifondi and SEB Unil�zings substantially 
grew. In the reporting period SEB Unibanka Group acquired one more subsidiary – by changing the legal status of 
the SEB investment bank the Latvian office of SEB Enskilda became a daughter company of SEB Unibanka - SEB 
Enskilda - providing corporate finance services.  

SEB Unil�zing’s leasing and factoring portfolio by the end of December grew to 384 million lats gaining 77 million 
lats or 25% year on year. The leasing portfolio increased by 70.7 million lats or 25% to 350 million lats. The leasing 
of vehicles still accounted for the largest part of the portfolio: 49%, followed by industrial leasing - 28% and 
commercial transport leasing - 23%. The factoring portfolio by the end of the year had reached 34 million lats 
showing 23% growth on the previous year. 

In the course of 2007 SEB Unibanka financial group in Latvia strengthened its leading position in the pension 
savings market managing the savings of more than 276 thousand participants of the 2nd and 3rd pillar pensions 
whose total pension capital by the end of 2007 had exceeded 79 million lats. With its active promotion of the 
necessity to make savings among the population of Latvia SEB Unipensija in 2007 retained its leading position 
among the open-ended pension funds both in terms of clients (market share of 49%) and in terms of total assets 
(56%). Already more than 660 Latvian and international companies have chosen the 3rd pillar pension services 
offered by SEB Unipensija as additional incentive scheme for their employees. In its pursuit of ever better and 
more modern remote services  SEB Unibanka is the first bank to offer its clients the option to apply for 3rd pillar 
pensions and make private retirement savings by means of its  Internet bank (Ibanka) .  

By 31 December 2007 both private persons and corporate customers had entrusted to SEB Unibanka’s 
investment management joint-stock company SEB Unifondi their savings in the amount of almost 200 million lats. 
Since the beginning of the year the total portfolio of SEB Unifondi had gained 36%. The year 2007 was very 
successful for SEB Unifondi as the portfolio managers achieved the highest yield among all the market players 
both in the management of 2nd pillar pension funds and in the Lats Reserve Fund among the money market funds 
of Latvia. SEB Unifondi have also won international recognition, for example, in 2007 SEB Unifondi for the second 
year running received the prestigious Euromoney award for the management of real estate funds (Euromoney 
Award for Excellence 2007 - 1st Investment Management - Real Estate - Latvia). Thanks to the growing interest of 
people about long-term savings, in 2007 the investments in SEB funds increased four times compared with 2006.  

SEB Life can confidently call the year 2007 the most successful year in the company’s history. The ambitious plan 
of pension underwritings has been exceeded reaching 116% of the plan and more than 2.5 times increasing the 
new business year on year. The development of SEB Life’s market share deserves attention with its growth from 
26% in November 2006 to 47% in November 2007 when the company became an undisputed leader in the life 
insurance market.  Towards the end of 2007 SEB Life launched a service that was unique in the market at that 
time called Riska tolerances robeža (the Risk Tolerance Limit) enabling its clients to protect the value of their 
savings in the unit-linked policies during the fluctuations in the short-term fund markets.  

In the same way as in the previous years, SEB Unibanka in 2007 took active part in Latvia’s social, cultural, 
educational and sports activities.  With the Bank’s financial support the lovers of the modern classical music in the 
National Opera of Latvia were treated to the world première of the composer Juris Karlson’s symphonic vision  
Vakarbl�zma (the Evening Twilight) and to the performance of the soloist Isabel Faust with the Riga Festival 
Orchestra conducted by  Normunds Šn�. In July the new Annual C�sis Arts Festival was launched and from now 
on it will take place every year in one of Latvia’s oldest towns C�sis. The Festival programme offered open-air 
theatre and opera performances, the new Latvian screenplays and music concerts. In August  Latvia celebrated 
the 800th anniversary of its tourist attraction – the town of Sigulda. 
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Statement of the Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank (continued) 
 

At the end of the year in cooperation with the business promoters in the Latvian schools - Junior Achievement 
Latvija – the Day of Shadows took place enabling the youngsters to get acquainted with different professions all 
over Latvia. 100 youngsters were received by SEB Unibanka Group companies to learn more about the daily work 
of our staff. With great cheers of fans the SEB Baltc Basketball League ended its season in spring and resumed 
playing in October. SEB Mountain-bike marathon continued for the whole summer. More than 3000 athletes, 
including the team of SEB Unibanka employees, in several towns of Latvia competed in six rounds. Also, in 2007 
SEB Unibanka continued to support the project P�das (Footprints) promoting environmental education and „green” 
thinking. 

SEB Unibanka’s results of 2007 are our common achievements. We can be truly proud of our clients’ trust and 
positive assessment of a number of our products and services. At the same time, SEB Unibanka has won 
international recognition – the international business magazine Euromoney has awarded SEB Unibanka the 
highest nomination. In the survey Awards For Excellence in Real Estate 2007 SEB Unibanka has won the first 
place among commercial banks (1st Commercial Banking – Latvia), in the category of debt instrument trading (1st 
Debt Capital Markets – Latvia) and in the previously mentioned investment management category (1st Investment 
Banking – Latvia). Among the many honours received by the Bank last year there is the title of the Family-Friendly 
Company awarded by the Ministry for Children and Family Affairs.  

The results of 2007 form a stable basis for further development. The year 2008 will see implementation of many 
big projects, including rebranding. After more than two years’ successful operations under the double brand SEB 
Unibanka the Bank will complete the year 2008 as SEB banka. It will be the confirmation of our belonging to SEB – 
an international, professional and in every way integrated company providing high quality professional services in 
financial operations both in Latvia and worldwide. Adhering to the SEB Group’s core values: commitment, 
continuity, mutual respect and professionalism our Bank together with its subsidiaries will continue to work in such 
a way as to provide the best services and products to our clients.   

We would like to use this opportunity to extend our gratitude to all the clients and business partners of SEB 
Unibanka for fruitful cooperation and to the Bank’s staff for their contribution to  SEB Unibanka’s development and 
wish success to everybody. 

 
 
 
 
 

Bo Magnusson  Ain�rs Ozols 
Chairman of the Council  President / Chairman of the Board 

 
 
Riga, 
19 February 2008 
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank 
 
           Date of appointment 
The Supervisory Council 
 

Bo Magnusson  Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 
20/12/2007 

Anders Arozin 
 

Deputy Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 
20/12/2007 

Audrius Žiugžda 
 

Member of the Council Re-elected – 
20/12/2007 

Ahti Asmann  Member of the Council Elected – 
20/12/2007 

The Board of Directors  
 

Ain�rs Ozols Chairman of the Board and President Elected – 
02/07/2007 

Charlotte Hagberg Member of the Board and Executive Vice 
President 

Elected – 
02/07/2007 

Roberts Bernis 
 

Member of the Board and Vice President Re-elected – 
05/01/2007 

Lars Ohman 
 

Member of the Board and Vice President Re-elected – 
02/07/2007 

Ieva Tetere Member of the Board and Finance director  Elected – 
03/08/2007 

 
During the year 2007 there have been the following changes in the members of the Supervisory Council of AS 
SEB Latvijas Unibanka: 
 

By the decision of the general meeting of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka shareholders of 9 March 2007 Mats Kjaer, 
Chairman of the Council and Ann Karlsson, Member of the Council, were recalled from their positions. Bo 
Magnusson was elected new Chairman of the Council. Anders Arozin was re-elected Deputy Chairman of the 
Council and Mart Altvee and Audrius Žiugžda - members of the Council. 

On 3 August 2007 Mart Altvee resigned the Council membership. 

By the decision of the general meeting of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka shareholders of  27 November 2007 Ahti 
Asmann was newly elected Member of the Council, effective  as of  20 December 2007. Bo Magnusson was 
re-elected Chairman of the Council, Anders Arozin - Deputy Chairman of the Council and Audrius Žiugžda - 
Member of the Council. 

 
 
During the year 2007 there have been the following changes in the members of the Board of Directors of AS SEB 
Latvijas Unibanka: 
 

By the decision of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka Council of 19 December 2006 Roberts Bernis was re-elected 
Member of the Board, effective  as of  5 January 2007. 

On 2 July 2007 Viesturs Neimanis resigned from the position of the Chairman of the Board. 

By the decision of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka Council of 11 June 2007 Ain�rs Ozols was elected new 
Chairman of the Board, effective as of 2 July 2007. Charlotte Hagberg was newly elected Member of the 
Board. 

By the decision of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka Council of 22 May 2007 Lars Ohman was re-elected Member of 
the Board, effective for the term from 2 July 2007 to 31 December 2007. 

On 1 August 2007 Ben Wilson resigned from the position of the Board Member. 

By the decision of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka Council of 11 July 2007 Ieva Tetere was newly elected Member 
of the Board, effective  as of 3 August 2007. 
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Statement of Responsibility of the Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of 
the Bank 
 
 
The Supervisory Council and the Board (the Management) of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka (the Bank) is 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries 
(the Group) as well as for the preparation of the financial statements of the Bank. 
 
The financial statements on pages 9 to 60 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and 
present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2007 and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2007 as well as the financial position of the 
Bank as at 31 December 2007 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 31 
December 2007.   
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have 
been applied on a consistent basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been 
made by the Management in the preparation of the financial statements. 
 
The Management of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka is responsible for the maintenance of proper 
accounting records, the safeguarding of the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities in the Group. They are also responsible for operating the Bank in compliance 
with the Law on Credit Institutions, regulations of the Bank of Latvia, the Financial and Capital Market 
Commission and other legislation of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bo Magnusson  Ain�rs Ozols 
Chairman of the Council  President / Chairman of the Board 

 
 
 
Riga, 
19 February 2008 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Shareholders of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka 
 
Report on the Financial Statements  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka and its 
subsidiaries (the Group) and the financial statements of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka (the Bank) on pages 9 to 60 
which comprise the balance sheets as of 31 December 2007 and the income statements, statements of changes 
in equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and the Bank as of 31 December 2007, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
We have read the Management Report set out on pages 3 to 5 and did not identify material inconsistencies 
between the financial information contained in the Management Report and that contained in the financial 
statements for 2007.  
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA  
   Audit company licence No. 5 
 
 
Juris Lapshe         Ilandra Lejina 
Member of the Board    Certified auditor 
    Certificate No. 168 
 
19 February 2008 

 
 

   

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA 
Kr. Valdem�ra iela 19 
R�ga LV 1010 
Latvija 
Telephone +371 709 4400 
Facsimile +371 783 0055 
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Income Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2007 
 

   2007  2006 
 Notes  Group  Bank  Group  Bank 
   Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
       
Interest income 4  190,931 169,129 126,943 115,790 
Interest expense 4  (100,756) (89,098) (59,127) (55,151) 
Net interest income 4  90,175 80,031 67,816 60,639 
       
Fee and commission income 5  25,228 23,177 20,420 18,831 
Fee and commission expense 5  (9,439) (9,636) (6,963) (6,750) 
Net fee and commission income 5  15,789 13,541 13,457 12,081 
       
Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net 6  12,769 13,393 6,628 6,991 
Net insurance income 7  1,001 - 844 - 
Dividend income   22 5,307 48 3,648 
Gain on sale of real estate 8  19,940 19,940 308 306 
Other operating income 9  8,857 2,078 6,073 365 
       
Allowances for loan impairment 10  (7,230) (7,214) (4,571)  (4,460) 
Release of previously established allowances 10  2,325 2,325 2,744 2,744 
Change in allowances for loans and advances 10  (4,905) (4,889) (1,827) (1,716) 
       
Administrative expense 11,12  (42,645) (36,086) (33,300) (29,608) 
Amortisation and depreciation charges   (11,220) (5,913) (9,915) (5,204) 
       

Profit before income tax   89,783 87,402 50,132 47,502 
       
Income tax expenses 13  (12,601) (11,310) (7,411) (6,492) 
          
Profit for the year   77,182  76,092  42,721  41,010 
          

 
 
The financial statements on pages 9 to 60 have been approved and authorised for issue by the 
Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

 

Bo Magnusson  Ain�rs Ozols 
Chairman of the Council  President / Chairman of the Board 

 
 
Riga,19 February 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Balance Sheet and Commitments and Contingent Liabilities as at 31 December 2007 
   31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Notes  Group  Bank  Group  Bank 
   Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
Assets          
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia 14  353,464  353,464  169,423  169,423 
Balances due from banks 15  251,039  237,609  212,704  205,504 
Loans and advances to customers 16-19  2,612,631  2,298,668  2,198,654  1,983,986 
Trading securities 20  25,569  24,932  35,469  35,469 
Securities designated at fair value through            

profit or loss 
 

20 
  

15,541 
  

- 
  

4,513 
  

- 
Investment securities available-for-sale  20  81,241  81,194  86,801  86,672 
Derivative financial instruments 21  7,662  8,164  2,724  2,735 
Investment properties 22  425  -  220  - 
Non-current assets held for sale   48  48  13,991  13,991 
Investments in subsidiaries 23  -  10,384  -  8,786 
Intangible assets 24  8,736  5,600  9,495  6,431 
Property and equipment 25  27,434  10,841  31,828  10,881 
Other assets   44,424  39,729  8,029  3,296 
Total assets   3,428,214  3,070,633  2,773,851  2,527,174 
      

Liabilities          
Debt securities in issue 26  2,338  2,338  1,975  1,975 
Balances due to banks 27  1,655,557  1,343,420  1,329,249  1,109,874 
Due to customers 28  1,382,096  1,384,741  1,168,292  1,169,538 
Derivative financial instruments 21  7,087  7,108  2,425  2,707 
Liabilities to policyholders 29  29,650  -  11,851  - 
Current income tax liability   3,903  3,401  1,474  1,436 
Deferred income tax liability 30  2,313  784  2,905  1,329 
Other liabilities   23,895  13,031  17,133  6,236 
Subordinated liabilities 31  69,045  69,045  62,017  62,017 
Total liabilities   3,175,884  2,823,868  2,597,321  2,355,112 
          
Equity          
Capital and reserves attributable to the equity 

holders 
         

Share capital 32  37,106  37,106  37,106  37,106 
Share premium   3,565  3,565  3,565  3,565 
Revaluation reserve on investment securities 

available-for-sale  
 

44 
  

(3,675) 
  

(3,673) 
  

(2,293) 
  

(2,284) 
Other reserves   203  203  203  203 
Retained earnings   215,131  209,564  137,949  133,472 

Total equity   252,330  246,765  176,530  172,062 
          
Total liabilities and equity   3,428,214  3,070,633  2,773,851  2,527,174 
          
Commitments and contingent liabilities          
Contingent liabilities 33  95,363  95,363  67,991  67,991 
Financial commitments 33  219,924  189,058  205,474  160,065 

The financial statements on pages 9 to 60 have been approved and authorised for issue by the 
Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 

Bo Magnusson  Ain�rs Ozols 
Chairman of the Council  President / Chairman of the Board 

 
 
Riga, 19 February 2008 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in the Group’s Equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2007 
 

 Paid-in share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Revaluation 
reserve on 
investment 

securities 
available-

for-sale  

Retained 
earnings 

TOTAL 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
       

Balance at                        
31 December 2005 37,106 3,565 203 940 95,228 137,042 

Net change in investment 
securities available-for-
sale, net of tax - - - (3,233) - (3,233) 

Profit for the year - - - - 42,721 42,721 

Balance at                         
31 December 2006 37,106 3,565 203 (2,293) 137,949 176,530 

Net change in investment 
securities available-for-
sale, net of tax - - - (1,382) - (1,382) 

Profit for the year - - - - 77,182 77,182 

Balance at                         
31 December 2007 37,106 3,565 203 (3,675) 215,131 252,330 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in the Bank’s Equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2007 
 

 Paid-in share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Revaluation 
reserve on 
investment 

securities 
available-

for-sale 

Retained 
earnings 

TOTAL 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
       

Balance at                         
31 December 2005 37,106 3,565 203 940 92,462 134,276 

Net change in investment 
securities available-for-
sale, net of tax - - - (3,224) - (3,224) 

Profit for the year - - - - 41,010 41,010 

Balance at                         
31 December 2006 37,106 3,565 203 (2,284) 133,472 172,062 

Net change in investment 
securities available-for-
sale, net of tax - - - (1,389) - (1,389) 

Profit for the year - - - - 76,092 76,092 

Balance at                         
31 December 2007 37,106 3,565 203 (3,673) 209,564 

 
246,765 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2007 
 
  2007  2006 
  Group  Bank  Group  Bank 
 Notes Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
         
Cash inflow from operating activities         

Profit before income tax   89,783  87,402  50,132  47,502 
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property 

and equipment  11,220  5,913  
 

9,934  
 

5,204 
Increase in allowances for loan impairment  4,889  4,889  1,827  1,716 
Profit from revaluation of foreign currency  (12,397)  (12,867)  (9,146)  (9,793) 
(Profit)/Loss from disposal of tangible property and equipment   75  14  3,657  (371) 
Gain on sale of real estate  (19,933)  (19,933)  -  - 
Profit from revaluation of investment properties  (205)  -  -  - 
Dividends received  (22)  (5,307)  (48)  (3,648) 
Increase in other assets   (3,862)  (4,635)  (907)  (149) 
Increase in other liabilities  22,416  4,641  7,494  1,568 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities  before changes in assets and liabilities  

 
91,964  

 
60,117  

 
62,943  

 
42,029 

         
Increase in securities designated at fair value through profit or 

loss  
 

(11,028)  
 

-  
 

(2,050)  
 

- 
(Increase)/Decrease in trading securities  9,900  10,537  (8,375)  (9,230) 
Increase in balances due from banks  (146,036)  (139,980)  (42,804)  (40,156) 
Increase in loans and advances to customers  (418,836)  (319,541)  (626,451)  (419,024) 
Increase in balances due to banks  326,308  233,546  450,519  241,822 
Increase in deposits due to customers  213,804  215,203  327,869  327,910 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities before income taxes  

 
66,076  

 
59,882  

 
161,651  

 
143,351 

         
Income tax paid  (10,726)  (9,889)  (8,459)  (7,630) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities  

 
55,350  

 
49,993  

 
153,192  

 
135,721 

         
Cash inflow/ (outflow) from investing activities         

Purchase of property and equipment   (9,375)  (5,102)  (17,515)  (4,951) 
Acquisition of subsidiary entities  (93)  (1,598)  -  - 
Sale of property and equipment   5,430  2,179  600  561 
Decrease/(increase) in investment securities available-for-sale   4,178  4,089  (28,387)  (28,314) 
Dividends received  22  5,307  48  3,648 

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 
investing activities  

 
162  

 
4,875  

 
(45,254)  

 
(29,056) 

         
Cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities         

Issue of subordinated liabilities  8,068  8,068  32,028  32,940 
Issue/(Repayments) of bonds  363  363  (1,419)  (1,419) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from financing 
activities  

 
8,431  

 
8,431  

 
30,609  

 
31,521 

         
Net cash inflow for the period  63,943  63,299  138,547  138,186 
         
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 35 303,150  302,969  155,457  154,990 
         

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  12,397  12,867  9,146  9,793 
         
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 35 379,490  379,135  303,150  302,969 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(Figures in brackets represent the data as at 31 December 2006 unless stated otherwise)  
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
A summary of the significant accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently (unless otherwise 
stated) throughout the years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, are set out below: 
 
a) Reporting Currency 
 

The tabular amounts in the accompanying financial statements are reported in thousands of lats, unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
b) Basis of Presentation 
 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted in the European Union. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as 
modified by the fair valuation of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets held as 
available-for-sale, trading securities, derivative financial instruments, and investment properties. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Although these estimates are based on Management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
results ultimately may differ from those estimates.  
 
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 
are consistent with those used in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006, except as 
referred to in Note 2 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations and new accounting 
pronouncements. 
 
c) Basis of Consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries, which are those companies in which the Group directly or indirectly has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, are consolidated. 
 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for 
acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, shares 
issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as 
goodwill (see Note 1 paragraph w) Intangible Assets including Goodwill). Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated upon consolidation; unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
d) Foreign Currency Translation 
 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in lats at rates of exchange set forth by the Bank of 
Latvia at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into lats at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the period. Any gain or loss resulting from a 
change in rates of exchange subsequent to the date of the transaction is included in the income statement as a 
profit or loss from revaluation of foreign currency positions. 
 

The principal rates of exchange (Ls to 1 foreign currency unit) set forth by the Bank of Latvia and used in the 
preparation of the Group’s and the Bank’s balance sheets were as follows: 
 

Reporting date USD EUR SEK 
    

As at 31 December 2007 0.484 0.703 0.074 
As at 31 December 2006 0.536 0.703 0.078 

 
e) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Fair values of financial assets or liabilities, including derivative 
financial instruments, in active markets are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial asset or 
liability is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. 
These include the use of discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and recent comparative 
transactions as appropriate, and may require the application of management’s judgement and estimates. 
 

Where, in the opinion of the Management, the fair values of financial assets and liabilities differ materially from 
their book values, such fair values are separately disclosed in the notes to the accounts. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
f) Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities  
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
g) Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 

Purchases and sales of trading securities and investment securities that require delivery within the time frame 
established by regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales), are recognised at settlement 
date, which is the date, when the asset is delivered or given to the Group or the Bank. Any change in the fair value 
of the asset during the period between the purchase date and the settlement date is recognised in the income 
statement or in equity reserve. Otherwise such transactions are treated as derivative instruments until settlement. 
 
h) Income and Expense Recognition 
 

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on an 
accrual basis using the effective interest method. When loans become doubtful of collection (see Note 1 paragraph 
m)), they are written down to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter recognised based on the 
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.  
 

Commissions received or incurred in respect of financial assets or funding are deferred and recognised as an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate on the asset or liability. Other fees and commissions are credited and/ or 
charged to the income statement as earned/ incurred. 
 
i) Net Insurance Income 
 

Net insurance income includes premiums earned, movements in life insurance provision net of reinsurance, claims 
incurred net of reinsurance, contract conclusion fee income, and insurance and contract maintenance charges. 
 

Premiums earned are recognised for contracts with significant insurance risk, which is defined as the possibility of 
having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable 
if the insured event did not occur. Such contracts include insurance contracts with guaranteed and fixed terms, 
short term insurance contracts, and long term insurance contracts without fixed terms and with a discretionary 
participation feature. Premiums earned are net of amounts ceded to reinsurers and movements in unearned 
premiums.  
 

For insurance contracts with guaranteed and fixed terms and short term insurance contracts, premiums are 
recognised by the Group on the basis of the premium attributable to the insurance year commencing during the 
reporting period, irrespective of whether the premium has become due or not. Premiums written are reduced by 
the amount of premiums cancelled or suspended during the reporting period. The balance of insurance debtors 
arising as the difference between premiums written and premiums paid by clients is included in other assets.  
 

For long term insurance contracts without fixed terms and with a discretionary participation feature premiums are 
recognised by the Group when the premium is received. 
 

For Investment contracts premium income is not recognised, while the change in subsequent liabilities and risk 
and administration charges are recognised through the income statement. 
 

Claims incurred are obtained from claims paid net of reinsurers’ share and movements in provisions for claims. 
 

The Group maintains investment assets in order to cover the insurance liabilities arising under insurance 
contracts, including investment securities designated at fair value through profit nor loss and investment 
properties. Investment income from these investment assets is consolidated in the respective line items in the 
income statement. Insurance sales commission paid to sales agents and brokers are expensed during the period 
with the part of the commissions that are attributable to future periods being carried forward as deferred acquisition 
costs (DAC). Commissions incurred and the change in DAC are included under fee and commission expense. 
 

Administrative and other expenses arising in relation to insurance business, including fees paid to the Latvian 
Financial and Capital Market Commission and contributions in respect of the Insurant Protection Fund, and 
depreciation is consolidated in the respective line items in the income statement. 
 
j) Employee Benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefits, including salaries and social security contributions, bonuses and paid vacation 
benefits, are included in Administrative expenses on an accrual basis. 

The Group and the Bank makes discretionary contributions under defined contribution retirement plans for eligible 
employees who have worked in the Group and the Bank for a specified minimum number of years. The 
contributions payable to the plans are recognised as an expense and included in Administrative expenses. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
k) Income Taxes 
 

Income tax is calculated in accordance with Latvian tax regulations and is based on the taxable income reported 
for the taxation period. 
 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the balance sheet. Deferred taxation relates to the 
future tax consequences of all events that have been recognised in the Group’s and the Bank’s financial 
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by 
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. The principal temporary differences arise from differing rates of accounting 
and tax depreciation on computer software, buildings, transport vehicles and office equipment, as well as certain 
allowances created for loan impairment and accruals for employee vacation expenses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  
 
l) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as the 
amounts comprising cash and demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia and other credit institutions. 
 
m) Loans and Receivables and Allowances for Loan Impairment 
 

Balances due from banks and loans and advances to customers are accounted for as loans and receivables. 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active markets. 
 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, where cost is defined as the fair value of cash consideration 
given to originate those loans. All loans and receivables are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers and 
derecognised on repayments.  
 

For the purposes of these financial statements, finance lease receivables are included in loans and advances to 
customers. 
 

The Group and the Bank have granted commercial and consumer loans to customers throughout its market area. 
The economic condition of the market area may have an impact on the borrowers' ability to repay their debts.  
 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that loans and receivables 
are impaired, either individually or as a class if individually not significant. If any such evidence exists, the amount 
of the allowances for loan impairment is assessed as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, including amounts recoverable from 
guarantees and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The assessment of the evidence for 
impairment and the determination of the amount of allowances for impairment or its reversal requires the 
application of management's judgement and estimates. Management’s judgements and estimates consider 
relevant factors including, but not limited to, the identification of non-performing loans and high risk loans, the 
Group’s and the Bank’s past loan loss experience, known and inherent risks in the portfolio of loans, adverse 
situations that may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral and 
current economic conditions as well as other relevant factors affecting loan and advance recoverability and 
collateral values. These judgements and estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become 
necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. The Management of the 
Group and the Bank have made their best estimates of losses, based on objective evidence of impairment and 
believe those estimates presented in the financial statements are reasonable in light of available information. 
Nevertheless, it is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year 
that are different from assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected. 
 

When loans and receivables cannot be recovered, they are written off and charged against allowances for loan 
impairment losses. They are not written off until all the necessary legal procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss is finally determined. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
n) Leases - when the Group and the Bank are Lessors 
 

The rights from a finance lease at commencement of the lease are recognised at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased asset or the present value of minimum lease payments. The net investment in finance leases is recorded in 
the balance sheet net of taxes and the related allowances for impairment.  
 

Assets under operating leases when the Group and the Bank are lessors are recognised as property and 
equipment. The assets under operating lease are recognised at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation of assets under operating lease is calculated on the difference between historic cost and estimated 
residual value at the end of the useful life. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of fixed assets and the charge is included in “amortisation and depreciation charges”. 
 

Income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term and is included in “other operating income”. 
 
o) Sale and Repurchase Agreements 
 

Sale and repurchase agreements are accounted for as financing transactions. Under sale and repurchase 
agreements, where the Group and the Bank are the transferors, assets transferred remain on the Group’s and the 
Bank’s balance sheets and are subject to the Group’s and the Bank’s usual accounting policies, with the purchase 
price received included as a liability owed to the transferee. Where the Group and the Bank are the transferees, 
the assets are not included in the Group’s and the Bank’s balance sheets, but the purchase price paid by it to the 
transferor is included as an asset. Interest income or expense arising from outstanding sale and repurchase 
agreements is recognised in the income statement over the term of the agreement using the effective interest 
method. 
 
p) Trading Securities 
 

Trading securities comprise debt securities, listed equity shares and investment funds held by the Group and the 
Bank for trading purposes. They are accounted for at fair value with all gains and losses from revaluation and 
trading reported in the income statement. 
 
q) Derivative Financial Instruments 
 

Derivative financial instruments include foreign exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, equity index 
options and other derivative financial instruments held by the Group and the Bank for trading purposes. Derivative 
financial instruments are recognised on trade date. They are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost 
(including transaction costs) and subsequently measured at their fair value with all gains and losses from 
revaluation reported in the income statement. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted 
cash flow models and options pricing models as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value 
is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. The Group and the Bank do not use hedge accounting. 
 
r) Financial assets designated to be held at fair value through profit or loss 
 

The category comprises debt securities and listed equity shares held by the Group for investment purposes which 
have been designated when initially recognised as a financial asset held at fair value through profit or loss. They 
are accounted for at fair value with all gains and losses from revaluation and sale reported in the income 
statement. 
 
s) Investment securities available-for-sale  
 

Investment securities available-for-sale comprise treasury bills, other fixed income securities and shares held by 
the Group and the Bank for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or 
changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. They are stated at fair value with all gains and losses 
from revaluation recognised in equity, through the statement of changes in equity, except for impairment losses 
and foreign exchange gains and losses, until derecognition, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement. Interest on investment securities available-for-sale is 
calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the income statement. Dividends on investment 
securities available-for-sale are recognised in the income statement when the right to receive payment is 
established. 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that investment securities 
available-for-sale are impaired, either individually or as a class if individually not significant. If any such evidence 
exists, the cumulative impairment loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost of the asset and 
the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised - is removed from equity and recognised in 
the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not 
subsequently reversed. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on debt instruments are 
subsequently reversed if a fair value increase is observed that can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. The assessment of the evidence for impairment and the determination 
of the amount of impairment or its reversal requires the application of management's judgement and estimates. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
t) Investment Properties 
 

Investment property comprises land or buildings, which are held in order to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
or both, and which are not occupied by the companies in the Group or otherwise held for sale. Property held under 
operating lease is classified as investment property if, and only if, it meets the definition of an investment property. 
 

Investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for 
any difference in the nature, location or condition of the property. If this information is not available, the Group 
uses alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow projections. 
 

Changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in the income statement. 
 
u) Non-current Assets Held For Sale 
 

A non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. 
 

Such a non-current asset held for sale is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms 
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets, and its sale is estimated to be highly probable, in 
accordance with IFRS 5. 
 

A non-current asset held for sale is included in the balance sheet at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. The non-current asset held for sale is shown separately from other assets in the balance sheet; 
the comparative balance for the prior period, before classification of the non-current asset as held for sale, is not 
restated. A non-current asset held for sale is not depreciated. 
 

Impairment losses, if any, recognised as a result of measurement of the non-current asset held for sale at the 
lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell, are included in the income statement. 
 
v) Investments in subsidiaries 
 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for under the cost method in the unconsolidated financial statements of 
the Bank. The Bank recognises income from the investment only to the extent that the Bank receives dividends 
from the accumulated profit of the subsidiaries arising after the date of acquisition. 
 
w) Intangible Assets including Goodwill 
 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition is reported in the balance sheet 
as an intangible asset and is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss. The goodwill is assessed 
during each reporting period to determine whether the goodwill is impaired; such impairment loss is determined on 
the basis of the estimated recoverable amount of the goodwill. The assessment of the impairment of goodwill 
requires the application of management's judgement, including estimates of future cash flows of the appropriate 
cash generating unit based on management's business plans, discounted at an appropriate discount rate. 
Identifiable intangible assets arising on acquisition whose fair value can be measured reliably are recognised 
separately from goodwill and amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. The identification 
and fair valuation of such intangible assets may require the application of management's judgement and, where 
applicable, estimates of the attributable cost of the asset or future cash flows from the Group's ownership of the 
asset discounted at an appropriate discount rate. 
 

Acquired computer software licences are recognised as intangible assets on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the software. These costs are amortised on the basis of their expected useful lives, not 
exceeding five years (except for acquired core-banking software together with its unique modules, not exceeding 
eight years). 
 

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Internally generated direct costs, arising in respect of certain discrete projects associated with the 
production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate 
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets on the basis of software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. These costs are amortised on the 
basis of their expected useful lives, not exceeding five years (except for core-banking software together with its 
unique modules, not exceeding eight years). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
x) Property and Equipment 
 

All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
 

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to its estimated residual 
value over the estimated useful life of the asset based on management judgement. The assets’ residual values 
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Assets under the course of 
construction are not depreciated. The following depreciation rates have been applied: 

 
 

Category Annual Rate Category Annual Rate 
    
Buildings 2 % ATMs 12.5 % 
Transport vehicles 20 % Furniture 10 % - 25 % 
EDP equipment 25 % Other office equipment 14.29 % 
Servers, POS Terminals 16.67 % Mobile phones 33.33 % 

 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by 
reference to their carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating income. 
 

Maintenance and repair costs are charged to the income statement as incurred. Property and equipment are 
periodically reviewed for impairment. 
 

Leasehold improvements are capitalised and depreciated over their expected useful lives, or over the remaining 
lease contract period if shorter, on a straight-line basis. 
 
y) Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 
 

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are mainly amounts due to customers and due to banks. These are 
recognised initially at cost, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs 
incurred. Financial liabilities are subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference between net proceeds 
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.  
 
z) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Bank have a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. These provisions relate to the 
guarantees issued and other off balance sheet items. The assessment of provisions requires the application of 
management's judgement and estimates, as to the probability of an outflow of resources, the probability of 
recovery of resources from corresponding sources including security or collateral or insurance arrangements 
where appropriate, and the amounts and timings of such outflows and recoveries, if any. 
 
aa) Insurance Liabilities 
 

Insurance liabilities arising in respect of life and accident insurance contracts comprise the provision for life 
insurance, the provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks and the provision for outstanding claims. The 
determination of the amount of insurance liabilities requires the application of management's judgement and 
assumptions. Principal assumptions are described in the respective note to the accounts. 
 

The provision for life insurance represents the current obligations to policyholders relating to life insurance 
contracts. The provision for life insurance is stated based on actuarial calculations for each life insurance 
agreement and varies with the classification of the respective contract. For insurance agreements with guaranteed 
and fixed terms  the prospective method is used (the provision equals the difference between the present value of 
the insurance liability and the present value of future premium income), which is adjusted to market value via 
applying market adjusted discount rate (according to methodology of the Latvian Financial and Capital Markets 
Commission). The retrospective method is used for long term insurance contracts without fixed terms (the 
provision equals the accumulated premiums and accumulated guaranteed interests less deductions defined in 
insurance contacts). The provision for life insurance also includes a provision for claims for life insurance.  
 

The provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks represents deferred income arising on non-life  
insurance contracts (short term insurance contracts) in respect of that part of the gross written premium 
attributable to the period from the balance sheet date to the date of expiry of the insurance agreement to cover all 
claims and expenses in accordance with insurance agreements in force. 
 

Liabilities for investment contracts are recognised in the balance sheet as financial liabilities. 
 

The provision for claims represents the amount of outstanding non-life insurance claims reported but not settled 
and estimated as incurred but not reported.  The provision for claims includes the direct loss adjustment expense, 
which will be incurred on settlement of claims incurred in the reporting and prior years. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
  
bb) Financial Guarantees 
 

The Group measures issued financial guarantees initially at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the 
amount of fees received. This amount is then amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. At 
each balance sheet date, the guarantees are measured at the higher of (i) the unamortised balance of the amount 
at initial recognition and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment at balance sheet 
date. 
 
cc) Off-balance Sheet Instruments 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the Group and the Bank utilise off-balance sheet financial instruments including 
commitments to extend loans and advances, financial guarantees and commercial letters of credit.  Such financial 
instruments are recorded in the financial statements when they are funded or related fees are incurred or received. 
The methodology for provisioning against off-balance sheet instruments is given in paragraph z) of Note 1 above.  
 
dd) Trust Activities 
 

Funds managed or held in custody by the Group and the Bank on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions 
are not regarded as assets of the Group and the Bank and, therefore, are not included in the balance sheet. 
 
ee)    Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Such estimates and assumptions are outlined below: 
 

� Impairment losses of loans and advances. The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on a 
regular basis as described in Note 1(m). The Group uses stress tests to determine possible impact of 
changes in one or more variables used in estimation of the provision for impairment losses on the 
financial result. To the extent that 50% of credit exposures are downgraded by one risk class, the 
provision would be estimated higher by LVL 7,093 thousand ; 

� Impairment of goodwill as described in Note 1(w); 
� Recognition of gain on the sale of real estate (see Note 8) was based on the management’s  judgement 

about transfer of significant risks and rewards before year end.  
 
Note 2  Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations and new accounting 

pronouncements  
 

Certain new IFRSs became effective for the Group from 1 January 2007. Listed below are those new or 
amended standards or interpretations which are relevant to the Group’s operations and the nature of their 
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.  
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and a complementary Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements - Capital Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2007). The IFRS introduced new disclosures to 
improve the information about financial instruments, including about quantitative aspects of risk exposures and the 
methods of risk management. The new quantitative disclosures provide information about the extent of exposure 
to risk, based on information provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel. Qualitative and 
quantitative disclosures cover exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk including sensitivity analysis to 
market risk. IFRS 7 replaced IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 
Institutions, and some of the requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. The 
Amendment to IAS 1 introduced disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages capital. The 
new disclosures are made in these financial statements. 
IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 March 
2006);  
IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006); 
IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006); 
IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
November 2006). 
The new IFRIC interpretations 7 to 10 did not significantly affect the Group’s and the Bank’s financial statements. 
Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that become effective for the accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods and which the Group has not early adopted:  
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The Standard 
applies to entities whose debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or that file, or are in the process 
of filing, their financial statements with a regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments 
in a public market. IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its operating 
segments and specifies how an entity should report such information.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2  Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations and new accounting 

pronouncements (continued) 
 
IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). 
The revised IAS 23 was issued in March 2007. The main change to IAS 23 is the removal of the option of 
immediately recognising as an expense borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for use or sale. An entity is, therefore, required to capitalise such borrowing costs as part of the cost of 
the asset. The revised Standard applies prospectively to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the 
commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009.  
IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
March 2007); 
IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008); 
IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008); 
IFRIC 14, IAS 19—The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008). 
The new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Note 3  Financial risk management 
 
a) Credit risk 
 

The Group and the Bank take on exposure to credit risk, which is a risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due. The Group and the Bank structure the levels of credit risk undertaken by placing limits 
on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of related borrowers, and to industry 
segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and are subject to monthly or quarterly and annual 
reviews. There are also limits set for credit risk by products.  

The Group’s and the Bank’s principles in measuring, monitoring and accepting credit risk are set out in the general 
Credit Policy of AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka, which reflect the credit loss instructions of SEB Group as well as the 
regulations of the Latvian Financial and Capital Market Commission. This policy relates to all of the Group’s and 
the Bank’s products where credit risk is embedded. All loan approvals and any changes to existing loan contracts 
are authorised by the relevant level of management in accordance with authorisation limits set in the Credit Policy.  

The main principles set out by the policy are: 
� all loans should be issued in line with the Credit Policy; 
� all loan approvals should be based on analysis; 
� the basis of lending is credibility; 
� the purpose of each loan should be fully understood; 
� the loan principal has to be in line with the borrowers’ ability to repay it; 
� the borrower should have an identified source of income and an alternative for repayment; 
� the borrowers’ investment has to be a significant proportion of the loan; 
� the loan assessment has to consider potential adverse business cycle effects; 
� the lending activity has to be in line with the Group’s and the Bank’s objectives in relation to profitability.  

Credit risk exposures are monitored on a revolving basis through regular assessments of borrowers’ ability to meet 
interest and capital repayments and limits are adjusted as appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also significantly 
managed and minimised by obtaining collaterals and guarantees against credit exposures. The fair values of those 
are also reviewed on a regular basis.  

The credit policy of the SEB Unibanka Group is founded on the principle that all lending shall be based on credit 
analysis and be proportionate to the repayment capacity of the customer. The customer shall be known to the 
Group in order to evaluate both capacity and character. Depending upon the customer’s creditworthiness and the 
nature and complexity of the transaction, collateral and netting agreements are used to a varying extent. The 
principal collateral types for loans and advances are mortgages over residential properties, charges over business 
assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable. 

All counterparties (excluding private individuals and micro corporate clients with limits up to 300 thousands EUR) 
on whom the Group has credit exposure are assigned an internal risk class that reflects the risk of default on 
payment obligations. The risk  classification scale has 16 classes, with 1 being the best possible risk and 16 being 
the default class. Risk classes 1-7 are considered “investment grade’, while classes 13-16 are classified as “watch 
list”. SEB Unibanka uses the risk classes when deciding on credit limits and in monitoring and managing the credit 
portfolio. 

In order to manage the credit risk on each individual customer or group of customers a total limit is decided. The 
limit represents the maximum exposure that the Group accepts, given the customer’s financial status and existing 
business relations. Limits are also established for the total exposure on various countries and for settlement risks 
in trading operations. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

All total limits and risk classes are subject to a minimum of one review annually by a credit approval authority. 
High-risk engagements (risk classes 13-16) are subject to more frequent reviews in order to identify potential 
problems at an early stage, thereby increasing the chances of finding constructive solutions. 

The table below shows split of  loans and advances to customers by risk class, excluding households: 

   31/12/07 31/12/06 
Grades Risk classes  Group  Group 
   %  % 
      

Investment grade 1-4  7  11 
  5-7  11  13 
      

Normal business 8-10  74  68 
  11-12  7  8 
      

Watch list 13-16  1  0 

See also Note 36. 
 
b) Market risk 
 

The Group and the Bank take on exposure to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, 
currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements. The Group and 
the Bank apply a “value at risk” (VaR) methodology to estimate the market risk of positions held and the maximum 
losses expected, based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in market conditions. VaR is 
monitored on a daily basis. 

The daily market VaR measure is an estimate, with a confidence level set at 99%, of the potential loss which might 
arise if the current trading positions were to be held unchanged for one business day. The measurement is 
structured so that daily losses exceeding the VaR figure should occur, on average, not more than once every 
hundred days. The use of this approach does not prevent losses in the event of more significant market 
movements; however, monitoring on a daily basis provides the principal risk management tool to minimise these 
losses. 

The table below shows trading book VaR (minimum/maximum amounts at risk during the year): 
 Min Max 31/12/07 31/12/06 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
     
Interest risk 136 158 137 102 
Currency risk 22 2,022 50 27 
Equity risk 9 9 10 9 
Diversification (72) (155) (36) (36) 

Kop� 95 2,034 161 102 
 
The table below shows non-trading book VaR (minimum/maximum amounts at risk during the year): 

 Min Max 31/12/07 31/12/06 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
     
Interest risk 925 2,240 1,565 938 
Currency risk 28 192 297 86 
Equity risk 30 16 45 22 
Diversification (57) (184) (251) (111) 

Kop� 926 2,264 1,656 935 
 
c) Currency risk 
 

The Group and the Bank have exposure to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates 
as a result of its financial position and cash flows. The Group and the Bank seek to match assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies in order to avoid foreign currency exposures. The Board of Directors has set 
limits on the level of exposure by currency, which is monitored on a daily basis. The Latvian banking legislation 
requires that open positions in each foreign currency may not exceed 10% of the Bank’s equity and that the total 
foreign currency open position may not exceed 20% of the equity. During the year 2007 the Bank was in 
compliance with those limits. (See Note 37) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
d) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the financial position of the Group and the Bank to a change in market interest 
rates. In the normal course of business, the Group and the Bank encounter interest rate risk as a result of 
differences within maturities or interest re-fixing dates of respective interest-sensitive assets and liabilities.  
The Group and the Bank seek to control this risk through the activities of the Bank’s Asset and Liability Committee, 
which sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, that are monitored on 
a monthly basis by the Risk management department. (See Note 38) 
For interest rate movements, the impact on Group’s and the Bank’s profit/loss is measured by the “Delta 1%” 
approach. Delta 1% reflects how a change in interest rate by 100 basic points will influence Group’s and the 
Bank’s profit/loss. The Delta 1% approach is based on exposures and durations of interest-sensitive products in 
the balance sheet and off-balance sheet.  

The Board sets limits on Delta 1% and limits are monitored monthly. The level of Delta 1% in 2007 has fluctuated 
between Ls 2,723 thousand (1.2% of own equity and 3% of net profit) and Ls 4,524 thousand (1.8% of own equity 
and 6% of net profit) and at December 31, 2007 was Ls 4,524 thousand (1.8% of own equity and 6% of net profit). 
 
e) Liquidity risk 
 

The Group and the Bank are exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from short-term liquid 
investments. The relationship between the maturity of assets and liabilities is indicative of liquidity risk and the 
extent to which it may be necessary to raise funds to meet outstanding obligations. The matching and controlled 
mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the daily liquidity management of the 
Group and the Bank. (See Note 39) 
 
f) Capital adequacy 
 

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s and the Bank’s capital resources to cover credit risks and 
market risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the Bank and the exposure from commitments 
and contingent liabilities of the Group and the Bank. 

The international Basel I risk-based capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2007 was for the Group 11.51%  
(9.67%) and for the Bank 12.85% (10.51%), which is above the minimum ratio recommended by the 1988 Basel 
Committee guidelines of 8%.  
In accordance with the Latvian Financial and Capital Market Commission’s (FCMC) requirements, the Group’s and 
the Bank’s risk based capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2007 were 11.39% (9.46%) and 12.88% 
(10.37%) respectively, which is above the minimum required by the FCMC guidelines 2004. FCMC requires 
Latvian banks to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 8% of risk weighted assets and commitments and contingent 
liabilities which is calculated in accordance with the rules set by FCMC. (See Note 40). 
In 2007 the Bank continued to work for implementation of Basel II guidelines providing also a framework for the 
implementation of the new EU capital adequacy rules. The work under this project was co-ordinated with SEB 
Baltic banks and within Basel II project of SEB Group. In 2007 the Bank has received permission from FCMC to 
start to use Internal Ratings Based (IRB) approach for credit risk capital requirements calculation starting 1 
January 2008. 
 
g) Insurance risk 
 
The Group, through the operations of its life insurance subsidiary SEB Dz�v�bas apdrošin�šana, issues short- and 
long-term life and non-life (accident) insurance contracts that insure events associated with human life (for 
example, death, survival or accident). Insurance contracts may contain a risk insurance component only or both a 
savings component and a risk insurance component together; however for all insurance contracts the risk 
insurance component is considered to be significant. 
Insurance risk arises in respect of the uncertainty inherent in the assumptions used to calculate the provisions for 
insurance liabilities. Such risks include mortality (where death is the insured risk) or longevity (where survival is the 
insured risk) as well as the probability of insured events for non-life accident insurance. The Group manages these 
risks through its underwriting policy and its reinsurance arrangements. The underwriting policy incorporates risk 
limits for policy issuance and, above certain limits, requires medical assessment of the insured, with premiums 
varied to reflect assessed risks. Approval procedures are required for introduction of new policy products. The 
Group’s reinsurance arrangements cover the excess of the insured benefit over certain retention limits. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
h) Investment risk of insurance business 
 
Investment risk is associated with the asset portfolios of the Group’s insurance business.  The life insurance 
business gives rise to long-term liabilities, which by their nature exhibit significant interest rate risk. In addition, 
certain life insurance products offer guaranteed returns to customers giving rise to performance risk.  The Group 
seeks to offset the interest rate risk of the long-term liabilities, in accordance with an asset-liability management 
policy for the insurance business and risk limits established by the Group’s risk management function. The 
performance risk is dealt with by the investment policies of the life insurance company and managed in co-
operation with professional asset managers. 
 
Note 4  Interest income and expense 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank   Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Interest income      

Interest on balances due from credit institutions 14,370 13,856  10,265 10,046 
Interest on loans and advances to non-bank customers 171,196 150,022  112,311 101,493 
Interest on Treasury bills and other fixed income securities 5,013 4,899  4,038 3,922 
Other interest income 352 352  329 329 

Total interest income 190,931 169,129  126,943 115,790 
      
Interest expense      

Interest on balances due to credit institutions (63,941) (52,354)  (37,715) (33,718) 
Interest on deposits due to customers (30,395) (30,511)  (16,883) (16,937) 
Interest on subordinated liabilities (3,530) (3,472)  (2,004) (2,004) 
Interest on bonds issued and debt securities (184) (184)  (94) (94) 
Other interest expense (2,706) (2,577)  (2,431) (2,398) 

Total interest expense (100,756) (89,098)  (59,127) (55,151) 
      

Net interest income 90,175 80,031  67,816 60,639 
 
 
Note 5  Fee and commission income and expense 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
    
Fee and commission income    

Payment transfer fees 5,714 5,730  5,153 5,171 
Loan related fees  2,068 1,543  2,207 1,469 
Fees for account service 2,154 2,160  1,978 1,981 
Commissions on cash operations 2,167 2,167  2,127 2,127 
Commissions on transactions with settlement cards  8,448 8,448  6,325 6,325 
Commissions on financial instruments 191 191  218 218 
Commissions on guarantees 1,265 1,265  852 852 
Commissions on asset management 1,249 -  701 - 
Other fee and commission income 1,972 1,673  859 688 

Total fee and commission income 25,228 23,177  20,420 18,831 
 
Fee and commission expense 

Correspondent bank service charges (600) (597)  (543) (539) 
Commissions on settlement cards (6,070) (6,127)  (4,438) (4,483) 
Commissions for attracted credit resources (52) (37)  (66) (51) 
Commissions on securities (348) (524)  (493) (286) 
Insurance sales commission (69) -  (26) - 
Commissions on cash transactions (820) (820)  (612) (612) 
Other fee and commission expense (1,480) (1,531)  (785) (779) 

Total fee and commission expense (9,439) (9,636)  (6,963) (6,750) 
      

Net fee and commission income 15,789 13,541  13,457 12,081 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 6 Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net 
 

Net profit on securities trading and foreign exchange represents the profit or loss from trading activities, changes in 
fair value and revaluation of foreign currency positions, excluding net interest income or expense and fees and 
commissions incurred in respect of those transactions. 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Profit from dealing with currency exchange and revaluation of 

foreign currency positions 
 

12,869 
 

14,052 
  

7,379 
 

8,027 
Loss from trading with other financial instruments (245) (245)  (283) (574) 
 12,624 13,807  7,096 7,453 
      

Profit/(loss) from trading with securities      
Trading securities 254 (226)  115 115 
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 89 -  7 - 
Investment securities available-for-sale  106 116  178 178 
 449 (110)  300 293 
      

Loss from revaluation of securities      
Trading securities (304) (304)  (755) (755) 
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss - -  (13) - 

 (304) (304)  (768) (755) 
      

Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net 12,769 13,393  6,628 6,991 
 
 
Note 7  Net insurance income 
 
 
The net insurance income, stated before investment income and operating expenses, arising in the life insurance 
subsidiary of the Group is analysed as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group  Group 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
    
    

Gross premiums written 8,254  5,211 
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (247)  (139) 
Movement in net provision for unearned premiums                                

(see Note 29) 
 

(32) 
  

(150) 
Premiums earned, net of reinsurance 7,975  4,922 
    

Movement in net provision for life insurance (see Note 29) (6,447)  (3,337) 
   

Gross claims paid (1,154)  (758) 
Reinsurers’ share received -  37 
Movement in net provision for non-life claims (see Note 29) (13)  (15) 

Claims incurred (1,167)  (736) 
    

Change in fair value of financial liabilities -  (11) 
Administrative charges of investment contracts (see Note 29) 640  6 

Net result from investment contracts 640  (5) 
    

Net insurance income 1,001  844 
 
 
Note 8 Gain on sale of real estate 
 

During 2007 SEB Group has finalised the sale of real estate. Net income from the sale of SEB Unibanka real 
estate is included in Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2007. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 9 Other operating income 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      

Rental income from investment properties 35 -  35 - 
Rental income under operating leases 7,411 -  5,497 - 
Other operating income 1,411 2,078  541 365 

Total other operating income  8,857 2,078  6,073 365 
 
 
Note 10 Change in allowances for loans and advances 
 
The table below shows the split of the Group’s total impairment allowances between loans and advances to non-
bank customers and other assets outstanding at the end of the reporting period: 
 

 Loans and 
advances 

Other assets Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
    

31 December 2006 9,746 38 9,784 
 

 
  

Increase in allowances 7,173 57 7,230 
    

Release of allowances (1,966) (25) (1,991) 
    

Recovered from write-offs (332) (2) (334) 
    

Release to Income Statement 4,875 30 4,905 
    

Write-offs (511) (63) (574) 
    

Foreign exchange difference (65) - (65) 
    

31 December 2007 14,377 7 14,384 
 
At 31 December 2007 the total allowances for loans and advances to non-bank customers represented 0.6% 
(0.5%) of the Group’s portfolio of loans and advances to non-bank customers, excluding loans guaranteed by the 
Government of Latvia and loans fully secured by eligible Latvian Treasury bills.  
 
 
Note 11 Administrative expense  
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Remuneration and related social security expense  
   (see Note 12) 21,657 18,807 

  
17,885 

 
15,926 

Utilities, repairs and rent 4,042 3,677  3,153 2,903 
Communication expense 1,170 994  1,143 1,003 
Office expense 2,977 2,729  2,422 2,256 
Sponsorship and marketing 4,270 3,663  2,686 2,238 
Transportation costs 1,019 1,123  858 930 
Training and other staff costs  1,968 1,744  1,627 1,499 
Consulting and professional fees 2,203 1,934  1,456 1,341 
Insurance 2,132 515  686 413 
Land and property tax 80 80  218 218 
Security costs 610 599  576 570 
Other administrative expense 517 221  590 311 

Total administrative expense  42,645 36,086  33,300 29,608 
 

Sponsorship and marketing includes charitable donations, in respect of which the Group and the Bank receive a 
tax credit to reduce its income tax payable for the year. This tax credit was Ls 1,183 thousand (Ls 761 thousand) 
for the Group and Ls 1,083 thousand (Ls 685 thousand) for the Bank in the year 2007 (see Note 13). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 12 Remuneration and related social security expense 
 
Remuneration and related social security expense includes remuneration to the Board of Directors and other 
personnel of the Group and the Bank as well as related social security payments and other benefits. 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 

      
Remuneration to the Board of Directors 636 636  583 583 
Remuneration to other personnel 16,511 14,148  13,549 11,957 
Social security payments 3,909 3,462  3,200 2,864 

 Payments to defined contribution plan 596 556  548 518 
Insolvency risk duty 5 5  5 4 

Total remuneration and related social security expense 21,657 18,807  17,885 15,926 
 
The average number of personnel employed by the Group and Bank during the respective year is specified as 
follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
      
Members of the Board of Directors 5 5  5 5 
Other managing personnel 176 149  175 145 
Staff  1,464 1,307  1,365 1,225 

Total number of personnel employed 1,645 1,461  1,545 1,375 
 
The total number of personnel employed by the Group and Bank as at 31 December 2007 was 1,674 (1,555) and 
1,489 (1,384), respectively. 
 
 
Note 13 Income tax expenses  
 
Income tax expenses comprise the following items: 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Current tax expense 13,193 11,855  7,529 7,085 
Movements in provision for deferred taxation                             

(see Note 30) (592) (545) 
 

(118) (593) 
Total income taxes 12,601 11,310  7,411 6,492 

 
The Group’s and the Bank’s tax charge on operating profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the basic tax rate as follows: 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      

Profit before tax 89,783 87,402  50,132 47,502 
Tax calculated at 15%  13,467 13,110  7,520 7,125 
      

Tax effect of:      
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 375 338  240 218 
Revaluation of other balance sheet items and non-taxable 

(income)/ expenses (58) (1,055) 
 

412 (166) 
Donations and gifts relief (1,183) (1,083)  (761) (685) 

Income tax expense 12,601 11,310  7,411 6,492 
 
Income tax is charged at 15% of taxable profit for the period calculated in accordance with Latvian tax legislation. 
The deferred tax balance is calculated based on future applicable tax rate, which is 15%.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 14 Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia  
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Cash 37,988 37,988  28,720 28,720 
Correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia 315,476 315,476  140,703 140,703 

Total cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 353,464 353,464  169,423 169,423 
 
The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia reflects the balance of the Bank's correspondent account, on 
which interest is paid in the amount of the compulsory reserve requirement.  
 
The Bank is required to comply with minimum reserve requirements set by the Bank of Latvia. This requires the 
Bank’s monthly average LVL balance on its correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia to exceed a specified 
minimum during the maintenance period of requirements.  
 
The Bank was in compliance with the reserve requirement during the reporting period. 
 
 
Note 15  Balances due from banks  
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
 Due from credit institutions registered in OECD area 151,005 151,005  100,105 100,105 
 Due from credit institutions registered in Latvia 99,036 85,606  111,955 104,755 
 Due from credit institutions registered in other non-OECD 

countries 
 

998 
 

998 
  

644 
 

644 
 Total balances due from banks 251,039 237,609  212,704 205,504 

 

At 31 December 2007, the Bank had correspondent relationships with 21 (21) credit institutions registered in the 
OECD area and 8 (6) financial institutions incorporated in non-OECD countries. In 2007 the Bank has established 
correspondent relationships with 2 financial institutions incorporated in non-OECD countries - SEB Ukraine and 
SEB Russia. 
 

At 31 December 2007, the Bank had balances due from 24 (24) credit institutions registered in the OECD area and 
8 (11) credit institutions incorporated in Latvia, which comprised 64% (49%) and 36% (51%) of the total gross 
balances due from credit institutions registered in the OECD area and Latvia, respectively. The largest placement 
with a single correspondent credit institution at the end of the period was Ls 56,244 thousand (Ls 88,944  
thousand) held with a bank incorporated in the OECD area. 
 

 
The following table discloses balances due from banks between demand and term deposits: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
On demand 26,026 25,671  133,727 133,546 
Other balances due from banks  225,013 211,938  78,977 71,958 

Total due from banks 251,039 237,609  212,704 205,504 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 16 Loans and advances to customers  
 
Loans and advances to customers comprise the following: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      

Loans 1,938,399 1,960,155  1,615,931 1,645,404 
Loans under reverse repurchase agreements 958 958  7,832 7,832 
Utilised credit lines 275,860 307,649  269,556 310,016 

 Total gross loans to customers 2,215,217 2,268,762  1,893,319 1,963,252 
      

Finance leases  335,285 2,210  260,075 3,483 
Factoring 34,434 -  28,010 - 
Overdraft facilities on demand deposit accounts 5,755 5,755  2,006 2,006 
Credit balances on settlement cards 36,317 36,318  24,990 24,991 

      

Total gross loans and advances to customers 2,627,008 2,313,045  2,208,400 1,993,732 
Less allowances for loan impairment (see Note 10) (14,377) (14,377)  (9,746) (9,746) 

Total net loans and advances to customers 2,612,631 2,298,668  2,198,654 1,983,986 
 
The extent of loan and advance concentration with respect to individual non-bank customers with total credit 
exposures equal to or exceeding Ls 1,000 thousand is presented below: 
 
 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
      
 Number of customers 347 309  235 212 
 Total credit exposure of customers (Ls ‘000) 1,114,406 1,065,806  1,013,603 1,018,619 
 Percentage of total gross portfolio of loans and advances 42.4% 46.1%  45.9% 51.1% 

 
At 31 December 2007 the top eight borrowers represented 8.4% (12.1%) of the total loan portfolio. 
 
The Latvian banking legislation requires that any credit exposure to a non-related entity or group of non-related 
entities may not exceed 25% of a credit institution’s equity and the total credit exposure to all related parties may 
not exceed 15% of equity. The Latvian Financial and Capital Market Commission has agreed that these limits are 
not applicable to the Bank’s credit exposure to its fully owned leasing subsidiary SIA Unil�zings. 
 
As at 31 December 2007, the Bank was in compliance with the legal requirement set for the total amount of non-
zero risk credit exposure.  
 
Finance leases by type of leased assets:   
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
 Manufacturing and agricultural equipment 83,773 -  66,757 - 
 Transport vehicles 237,927 2,210  184,277 3,483 
 Medical equipment 3,460 -  1,272 - 
 Other 10,125 - 7,769 - 

Total finance leases 335,285 2,210  260,075 3,483 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 16 Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 
Finance lease receivables by maturity profile: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Overdue 2,930 846  1,715 925 
Not later than 1 year 96,832 569  70,794 992 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 215,612 795  168,985 1,566 
Later than 5 years 19,911 -  18,581 - 

Total finance leases, net 335,285 2,210  260,075 3,483 
      

Unearned interest income from finance leases (see Note 19) 51,431 131  35,478 285 
      

Total finance leases, gross 386,716 2,341  295,553 3,768 
 
 
Note 17 Loans and advances to customers by quality  
 
The following table provides the division of loans and advances to customers by quality: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Neither past due nor impaired 2,513,861 2,248,708  2,121,288 1,940,275 
Past due but not impaired 106,175 58,368  81,178 48,621 
Impaired 6,972 5,969  5,934 4,836 

      

Total gross loans and advances to customers 2,627,008 2,313,045  2,208,400 1,993,732 
      

Less allowances for loan impairment (see Note 10) (14,377) (14,377)  (9,746) (9,746) 
      

Total net loans and advances to customers 2,612,631 2,298,668  2,198,654 1,983,986 
 
The following table provides the division of loans and advances to customers neither past due nor impaired: 
 

   31/12/07  31/12/06 
Grades Risk classes  Group Bank  Group Bank 
   Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Investment grade 1-4  95,717 95,717  93,706 93,706 
  5-7  107,646 141,711  75,665 137,427 
        

Normal business 8-10  1,155,981 991,481  930,844 874,326 
  11-12  109,892 71,851  157,385 91,254 
        

Watch list 13-16  8,440 8,060  3,409 3,365 
        

Retail companies   129,811 71,080  227,360 139,152 
        

Private individuals   906,374 868,808  632,919 601,045 
        

Total gross loans and advances to customers 
neither past due nor impaired 

  
2,513,861 

 
2,248,708  

 
2,121,288 

 
1,940,275 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 17 Loans and advances to customers by quality (continued) 
 
The following table provides the division of loans and advances to customers past due but not impaired: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Past due up to 30 days 76,874 40,118  70,858 41,433 
Past due 30-60 days 17,547 8,694  6,063 3,254 
Past due 60-90 days 4,226 2,874  1,575 1,252 
Past due over 90 days 7,528 6,682  2,682 2,682 

      

Total gross loans and advances to customers past due 
but not impaired 

106,175 58,368  81,178 48,621 

      

Fair value of collateral 95,386 48,264  74,067 42,515 
 
The following table provides the division of Group’s loans and advances to customers individually impaired: 
 

 
Loans 

Utilised credit 
lines 

Finance 
leases Overdrafts 

Credit 
cards Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
31 December 2007       
Impaired loans 4,413 573 1,816 157 13 6,972 
Fair value of collateral 2,991 - 393 - - 3,384 
       

31 December 2006       
Impaired loans 3,997 794 1,098 44 1 5,934 
Fair value of collateral 1,884 557 1,010 - - 3,451 
 
The following table provides the division of Bank’s loans and advances to customers individually impaired: 
 

 
Loans 

Utilised credit 
lines 

Finance 
leases Overdrafts 

Credit 
cards Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
31 December 2007       
Impaired loans 4,413 573 813 157 13 5,969 
Fair value of collateral 2,991 - 118 - - 3,109 
       

31 December 2006       
Impaired loans 3,997 794 - 44 1 4,836 
Fair value of collateral 1,884 557 - - - 2,441 
 
 
Note 18 Loans and advances to customers by geographical and economic profile  
 
The following table presents geographical profile of the portfolio of loans and advances to customers analysed by 
the place of customers’ residence: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Geographical profile by the place of customers’ residence:      

 Residents of Latvia 2,560,339 2,254,386  2,102,267 1,899,976 
 Residents of other non OECD area countries 31,713 23,703  59,554 47,194 
 Residents of OECD countries 34,956 34,956  46,579 46,562 

      

Total gross loans and advances to customers 2,627,008 2,313,045  2,208,400 1,993,732 
      

 Less allowances for loan impairment (see Note 10) (14,377) (14,377)  (9,746) (9,746) 
      

Total net loans and advances to customers 2,612,631 2,298,668  2,198,654 1,983,986 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 18 Loans and advances to customers by geographical and economic profile (continued)  
 
Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
 Manufacturing 228,966 181,087  202,177 159,960 
 Retail trade and wholesale distribution 277,992 191,002  231,270 167,559 
 Transport, warehousing and communications 172,959 84,973  169,350 106,154 
 Financial intermediaries 74,463 126,053  80,034 148,386 
 Electricity, gas and water utilities 57,656 56,194  46,101 44,877 
 Agriculture and forestry 164,050 131,798  143,572 117,779 
 Construction 143,139 114,813  123,282 97,728 
 Hotels and restaurants 28,155 25,411  32,697 30,308 
 Real estate 404,185 388,548  317,895 305,807 
 Other industries 76,578 68,090  38,712 33,403 
 Municipal authorities 15,490 13,485  23,409 21,984 
 Public and religious institutions 30,568 21,525  32,311 26,520 
 Personnel employed by the Bank and the Group 25,957 23,986  21,059 19,784 
 Other private individuals 926,850 886,080  746,531 713,483 

Total gross loans and advances to customers 2,627,008 2,313,045  2,208,400 1,993,732 
 
As at 31 December 2007, the Bank had entered into reverse repurchase agreements regarding the purchase of 
bonds and equity shares with a commitment to return these assets to the counterparty within a 3 month period. 
The Bank has recorded the purchase price of those securities totalling Ls 958 thousand (Ls 7,832 thousand), of 
which Ls 591 thousand (Ls 7,173 thousand) is included in loans and advances to non-bank financial intermediaries 
and Ls 367 thousand (Ls 659 thousand ) in loans and advances to private individuals. 
 
 
Note 19 Unearned interest income from finance leases  
 
For finance lease transactions, the Bank has introduced a combined interest rate that comprises a fixed margin 
and a floating rate. Accordingly, the floating rate for unearned interest set forth as at year-end has been used to 
determine unearned interest income for finance leases. 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
 Not more than 1 year 20,766 78  14,033  142 
 More than 1 year but not more than 5 years 29,364 53  20,518 143 
 More than 5 years 1,301 -  927 - 

Total unearned interest income from finance leases  51,431 131  35,478 285 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 20  Securities 
 
 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Trading securities       

Treasury bills - -  134 134 
Government bonds 17,005 17,005  23,632 23,632 
Corporate bonds 7,412 7,412  11,061 11,061 
Equity shares 184 184  182 182 
Investments in Latvia investment fund 968 331  460 460 

Total trading securities 25,569 24,932  35,469 35,469 
      
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss      

Government bonds 1,138 -  2,199 - 
Corporate bonds 1,216 -  739 - 
Equity shares 716 -  1,575 - 
Investments in Latvian investment fund 56 -  - - 
Investments in OECD investment fund 12,415 -  - - 

Total securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 15,541 -  4,513 - 
      
Investment securities available-for-sale       

Government bonds 42,305 42,305  49,854 49,793 
Corporate bonds 38,307 38,263  36,371 36,306 
Equity shares 629 626  576 573 

Total investment securities available-for-sale  81,241 81,194  86,801 86,672 
      
Total securities 122,351 106,126  126,783 122,141 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 
Note 20 Securities (continued) 
 

 
The following table shows the division of securities held by the Group by listed and unlisted securities: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Listed Unlisted Total  Listed Unlisted Total 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 

Trading securities    
 

Treasury bills 
Latvian Treasury bills - - - 134 - 134 

 - - - 134 - 134 
Government bonds       

Latvian government bonds  15,565 - 15,565  22,152 - 22,152 
Non-OECD government bonds 1,440 - 1,440  1,480 - 1,480 

 17,005 - 17,005  23,632 - 23,632 
Corporate bonds       

Latvian corporate bonds 3,852 - 3,852 6,830 - 6,830 
OECD corporate bonds 1,320 82 1,402 1,475 - 1,475 
Non-OECD corporate bonds 1,827 331 2,158 2,756 - 2,756 

 6,999 413 7,412 11,061 - 11,061 
Equity shares       

in Latvian corporate entities 184 - 184 182 - 182 
 184 - 184 182 - 182 
       

Investments in Latvian investment fund - 968 968 - 460 460 
       

Total trading securities 24,188 1,381 25,569 35,009 460 35,469 
 
 

Securities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

 

Government bonds 
Latvian government bonds  740 - 740  2,199 - 2,199 
OECD government bonds 398 - 398  - - - 

 1,138 - 1,138  2,199 - 2,199 
Corporate bonds        

Latvian corporate bonds 1,059 - 1,059 566 - 566 
OECD corporate bonds 157 - 157 76 - 76 
Non-OECD corporate bonds - - - - 97 97 

 1,216 - 1,216 642 97 739 
Equity shares       

in Latvian corporate entities - 1 1 156 669 825 
in OECD corporate entities 524 - 524 - 666 666 
in non-OECD corporate entities 191 - 191 84 - 84 

 715 1 716 240 1,335 1,575 
       
Investments in Latvian investment fund - 56 56 - - - 
Investments in OECD investment fund - 12,415 12,415 - - - 
 - 12,471 12,471 - - - 
  

Total securities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 3,069 12,472 15,541 3,081 1,432 4,513 

 

Investment securities available-for-sale 
       

Government bonds       
Latvian government bonds  28,212 - 28,212  35,472 - 35,472 
OECD government bonds 14,093 - 14,093  14,382 - 14,382 

 42,305 - 42,305  49,854 - 49,854 
Corporate bonds 

Latvian corporate bonds 53 - 53  1,213 - 1,213 
OECD corporate bonds 38,254 - 38,254  35,158 - 35,158 

 38,307 - 38,307  36,371 - 36,371 
Equity shares        

in Latvian corporate entities - 3 3  - 576 576 
In OECD corporate entities - 626 626  - - - 

 - 629 629  - 576 576 
 
  

Total investment securities available-for-
sale  80,612 629 81,241  86,225 576 86,801 

 

Total securities  107,869 14,482 122,351  124,315 2,468 126,783 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 20 Securities (continued) 
 
The following table discloses the split of trading and other securities between fixed and non-fixed income 
securities: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Debt securities and other securities with fixed income      

Securities refinanced with Central Bank 37,643 36,469  51,131 48,067 
Other securities with fixed income:      

Government bonds 26,489 25,991  26,711 26,711 
Other bonds with fixed income 43,251 42,525  46,147 46,147 

Total fixed income debt securities and other fixed income 
securities 

 
107,383 

 
104,985 

  
123,989 

 
120,925 

      
Equity shares and other non-fixed income securities 14,968 1,141  2,794 1,216 
      
Total securities 122,351 106,126  126,783 122,141 

 
The following table shows the division of the Group’s debt securities by rating agency designation as at                       
31 December 2007: 
 

 

Trading securities 

Securities 
designated at fair 

value through profit 
or loss 

Investment 
securities 

available-for-sale Total 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 

     

AAA 1,320 - - 1,320 
AA- to AA+ - - 38,255 38,255 
A- to A+ 21,710 1,169 42,357 65,236 
Lower than A- 430 217 - 647 
Unrated 957 968 - 1,925 

 
 
Note 21  Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group and the Bank utilise the following derivative instruments: currency forwards representing commitments 
to purchase foreign and domestic currency, currency and interest rate swaps representing commitments to 
exchange one set of cash flows for another and equity index options. Swaps result in an economic exchange of 
currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate). Options are derivatives establishing liabilities 
for their seller and entitling (but not obliging) the buyer to buy (call option) or to sell (put option) a contracted 
amount of underlying assets for an agreed price. 
 
The Group's and the Bank’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the forward or swap contracts if 
counterparties fail to perform their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group and the Bank 
assess counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities. 
 
The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments 
recognised on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the 
current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's and the Bank’s exposure to credit 
or price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable or unfavourable as a result of fluctuations in market 
interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 21  Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 
The Group’s notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments held for trading are set out in the following 
table: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Fair value  Fair value 
 

Contract / 
notional 
amount 

Assets Liabilities  
Contract / 

notional 
amount 

Assets Liabilities 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        
Derivative financial 

instruments 
       

Currency forwards 29,089 112 (247)  2,274 2 (15) 
Currency swaps 547,968 1,508 (1,836)  233,384 785 (620) 
Interest rate swaps 313,389 2,322 (2,899)  338,024 845 (1,250) 
Equity index options 19,802 3,720 (2,105)  11,198 1,092 (540) 

        

Total  7,662 (7,087)   2,724 (2,425) 
 
 
The Bank’s notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments held for trading are set out in the following 
table: 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Fair value  Fair value 
 

Contract / 
notional 
amount 

Assets Liabilities  
Contract / 

notional 
amount 

Assets Liabilities 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        
Derivative financial 

instruments 
       

Currency forwards 27,289 115 (268)  2,274 2 (15) 
Currency swaps 518,306 2,007 (1,836)  191,083 796 (902) 
Interest rate swaps 313,389 2,322 (2,899)  338,024 845 (1,250) 
Equity index options 19,802 3,720 (2,105)  11,198 1,092 (540) 

        

Total  8,164 (7,108)   2,735 (2,707) 
 
 
Note 22  Investment properties 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group  Group 
 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
    
Carrying amount at 1 January 220  240 

Gains on fair valuation 205  - 
Disposals -  (20) 
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 425  220 
 
Investment properties are held at fair value based on valuations made by independent valuers who have up-to-
date experience in valuing real estate in the respective location and category and who hold an appropriate 
professional qualification for real estate valuation.  The valuations are made on the basis of recent comparative 
data in the local market and/or on the basis of rental returns discounted at an appropriate rate. 
 
The income statement includes Ls 35 thousand (Ls 35 thousand) of rental income from investment property 
included in other operating income and Ls 16 thousand (Ls 12 thousand) of direct operating expenses for such 
property included in administrative expenses. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 
Note 23  Investments in subsidiaries  
 

The Bank’s investments in subsidiaries are specified as follows: 
 

 Business profile Share 
capital  

Total 
equity  

The 
Bank’s 

share  

Total 
voting 
rights 

Investment 
value  

Investment 
value 

      31/12/07 31/12/06 
  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 (%) (%) Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 

        
SIA Unil�zings Leasing and 

factoring activities 
 

2,400 
 

8,658 
 

100 
 

100 
 

2,683 
 

2,683 
        
Investment management 
company   
AS SEB Unifondi 

Investment & 
pension fund 
management 

 
 

318 

 
 

1,125 

 
 

100 

 
 

100 

 
 

596 

 
 

596 
        
Public pension fund  
AS SEB Unipensija 

 
Pension fund 

 
480 

 
241 

 
100 

 
100 

 
488 

 
488 

        
Insurance company 
AAS SEB Dz�v�bas 
apdrošin�šana 

 
 
Life insurance 

 
 

3,800 

 
 

2,899 

 
 

100 

 
 

100 

 
 

6,019 

 
 

5,019 
        
SIA SEB Enskilda Corporate finance 

services 
 

515 
 

726 
 

100 
 

100 
 

598 
 

- 
      10,384 8,786 

 

 
 
Note 24 Intangible assets  
 
The following is included in the net book value of intangible assets: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Computer software excluding prepayments 5,859 5,600  6,611 6,418 
Prepayments for software 405 -  299 13 
Other 1,337 -  1,485 - 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,135 -  1,100 - 

      

Total intangible assets 8,736 5,600  9,495 6,431 
 
The movements in the balance of goodwill of the Group during the period are as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group  Group 

 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
    

At 1 January 1,100  1,100 
Goodwill recognised upon acquisition of  

SIA SEB Enskilda 
 

35 
  

- 
At 31 December 1,135  1,100 

The amounts of goodwill in the table above are shown at their gross amounts and there are no accumulated 
impairment losses. The goodwill was assessed for impairment during 2007 based on forecast cash flows of the 
respective cash-generating units for the next five years and discount rates up to 9%.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

Note 24  Intangible assets (continued) 
 
The following table presents movements in the Group’s and the Bank’s net book value of software: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
1 January 13,553 13,105  12,659 12,219 
Additions  988 878  895 887 
Disposals (40) (40)  (1) (1) 
31 December  14,501 13,943  13,553 13,105 

      

Accumulated amortisation      
1 January 6,942 6,687  5,397 5,189 
Charge for the period 1,708 1,664  1,546 1,499 
Disposals (8) (8)  (1) (1) 
31 December 8,642 8,343  6,942 6,687 

      

Net book value      
31 December 5,859 5,600  6,611 6,418 

 

 
 
Note 25 Property and equipment  
 
The following are included in the net book value of property and equipment: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      

Leasehold improvements 2,699 2,511  1,950 1,848 
Transport vehicles 180 153  323 303 
      

Office equipment:      
   EDP equipment  5,005 4,872  4,862 4,753 
   Other office equipment, fixtures and fittings 3,490 3,221  3,942 3,798 
Total office equipment 8,495 8,093  8,804 8,551 
      

Assets leased to customers under operating leases 15,943 -  20,522 - 
      

Total property and equipment excluding prepayments 27,317 10,757  31,599 10,702 
      

Prepayments for property and equipment  117 84  229 179 
      

Total property and equipment at net book value 
including prepayments 

 
27,434 

 
10,841 

  
31,828 

 
10,881 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 25 Property and equipment (continued) 
 
The following changes in the Group’s property and equipment (including assets leased to customers under 
operating leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2007: 
 

 
 
 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Transport 
vehicles 

  Office 
 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  
excluding 

prepayments 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
As at 31 December 2006 2,967 26,139 26,069 55,175 

Additions  1,378 3,416 3,633 8,427 
Disposals  (26) (6,667) (3,203) (9,896) 

As at 31 December 2007 4,319 22,888 26,499 53,706 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
As at 31 December 2006 1,017 6,754 15,805 23,576 

Charge for the period 629 4,624 4,111 9,364 
Reversal due to disposals (26) (3,539) (2,986) (6,551) 

As at 31 December 2007 1,620 7,839 16,930 26,389 
     
Net book value     
As at 31 December 2006 1,950 19,385 10,264 31,599 
As at 31 December 2007 2,699 15,049 9,569 27,317 

 
The following changes in the Bank’s property and equipment took place during the year ended 31 December 2007: 
 

 
 
 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Transport 
vehicles 

  Office 
 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  
excluding 

prepayments 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
As at 31 December 2006 2,840 787 22,624 26,251 

Additions  1,251 14 3,065 4,330 
Disposals  (26) (212) (2,911) (3,149) 

As at 31 December 2007 4,065 589 22,778 27,432 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
As at 31 December 2006 992 484 14,073 15,549 

Charge for the period 588 138 3,522 4,248 
Reversal due to disposals (26) (185) (2,911) (3,122) 

As at 31 December 2007 1,554 437 14,684 16,675 
     
Net book value     
As at 31 December 2006 1,848 303 8,551 10,702 
As at 31 December 2007 2,511 152 8,094 10,757 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 25 Property and equipment (continued) 
 
The following changes in the Group’s property and equipment (including assets leased to customers under 
operating leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2006: 
 

 
 
 

Land and 
buildings  

Leasehold 
improvements 

Transport 
vehicles 

  Office 
 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  
excluding 

prepayments 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
As at 31 December 2005 15,471 2,042 22,299 24,748 64,560 

Additions  313 987 11,833 3,296 16,429 
Disposals  (19) (62) (7,993) (1,975) (10,049) 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale (15,765) - - - (15,765) 
As at 31 December 2006 - 2,967 26,139 26,069 55,175 

      
Accumulated depreciation      
As at 31 December 2005 1,572 677 6,543 14,150 22,942 

Charge for the period 204 402 4,152 3,462 8,220 
Reversal due to disposals (2) (62) (3,941) (1,807) (5,812) 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale 
 

(1,774) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(1,774) 
As at 31 December 2006 - 1,017 6,754 15,805 23,576 

      
Net book value      
As at 31 December 2005 13,899 1,365 15,756 10,598 41,618 
As at 31 December 2006 - 1,950 19,385 10,264 31,599 

 
The following changes in the Bank’s property and equipment took place during the year ended 31 December 2006: 
 

 
 
 

Land and 
buildings  

Leasehold 
improvements 

Transport 
vehicles 

  Office 
 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  
excluding 

prepayments 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
As at 31 December 2005 15,471 1,924 1,251 21,624 40,270 

Additions  313 945 18 2,717 3,993 
Disposals  (19) (29) (482) (1,717) (2,247) 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale 
 

(15,765) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(15,765) 
As at 31 December 2006 - 2,840 787 22,624 26,251 

      
Accumulated depreciation      
As at 31 December 2005 1,572 633 689 12,781 15,675 

Charge for the period 204 388 201 2,912 3,705 
Reversal due to disposals (2) (29) (406) (1,620) (2,057) 
Transferred to non-current 

assets held for sale 
 

(1,774) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(1,774) 
As at 31 December 2006 - 992 484 14,073 15,549 

      
Net book value      
As at 31 December 2005 13,899 1,291 562 8,843 24,595 
As at 31 December 2006 - 1,848 303 8,551 10,702 

 
In September 2006 the Bank’s portfolio of real estate was transferred to non-current assets held for sale and 
depreciation of the respective fixed assets was terminated. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 25  Property and equipment (continued) 
 
Leased assets included above where the Group is a lessor comprise assets leased by a Group company to third 
parties under operating leases: 

 2007  2006 
 Group  Group 
 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
Historical cost 
1 January 28,245  23,683  
Additions  3,748  12,296 
Disposals  (6,746)  (7,734) 
31 December  25,247  28,245 

    
Accumulated depreciation    
1 January 7,723  7,014 
Charge for the period 4,960  4,413 
On disposals (3,379)  (3,704) 
31 December 9,304  7,723 

    
Net book value    
31 December 15,943  20,522 

 
The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group  Group 
 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
    
Not later than 1 year 3, 596  4,291 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 year 6, 985  9,307 
More than 5 years 26  46 

Total minimum lease payments from 
operating leases 

 
10,607 

  
13,644 

 
 
 
Note 26 Debt securities in issue 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Certificates of deposit 2,338 2,338  1,975 1,975 

Total issued debt securities 2,338 2,338  1,975 1,975 
 
During 2007 the Bank maintained one programme of deposit certificates, enabling issuance of deposit certificates 
in LVL, USD and EUR for a total amount of 20 million lats.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 27 Balances due to banks  
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Due to credit institutions registered in OECD area 1,551,636 1,239,499  1,181,721 962,346 
Due to credit institutions registered in Latvia 95,925 95,925  136,648 136,648 
Due to credit institutions registered in other countries 7,996 7,996  10,880 10,880 

      

Total balances due to banks 1,655,557 1,343,420  1,329,249 1,109,874 
 
The following table discloses balances due to banks by maturity profile: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
On demand 26,098 26,098  33,379 33,379 
Term balances  1,629,459 1,317,322  1,295,870 1,076,495 

Total balances due to banks 1,655,557 1,343,420  1,329,249 1,109,874 
 

Balances due to related entities of SEB Group are disclosed in Note 41. 
 
 
Note 28 Due to customers  
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Maturity profile:      
Demand deposits 822,156 823,712  844,236 845,087 
Term deposits  559,940 561,029  324,056 324,451 

Total due to customers 1,382,096 1,384,741  1,168,292 1,169,538 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ’000  Ls ’000 Ls ’000 
Sector profile:      
Private companies 488,368 491,013  429,532 430,778 
Private individuals 623,594 623,594  553,654 553,654 
State owned enterprises 119,413 119,413  64,853 64,853 
Central government  3,997 3,997  5,329 5,329 
Municipal authorities 115,451 115,451  87,132 87,132 
Public and religious institutions 31,273 31,273  27,792 27,792 

Total due to customers 1,382,096 1,384,741  1,168,292 1,169,538 
 
 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Geographical profile:      
Residents  1,341,672 1,344,317  1,127,176 1,128,422 
Non-residents 40,424 40,424  41,116 41,116 

Total due to customers 1,382,096 1,384,741  1,168,292 1,169,538 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 29  Liabilities to policyholders 
 
Liabilities to policyholders arise in respect of insurance contracts and investment contracts within the Group’s life 
insurance subsidiary, SEB Dz�v�bas apdrošin�šana.  The amount in the balance sheet comprises the following: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Provision for life insurance 17,494 (74) 17,420  11,023 (50) 10,973 
Provision for unearned premium 

and unexpired risks 269 (42) 227 
  

222 
 

(27) 
 

195 
Provision for claims 29 - 29  16 - 16 
Financial liabilities of investment 

contracts 11,974 - 11,974 
  

667 
 

- 
 

667 
        

 29,766 (116) 29,650  11,928 (77) 11,851 
 

The movement in the provision for life insurance in the period, dealt with in the income statement, is as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

At 1 January 11,023 (50) 10,973  7,652 (16) 7,636 
        

Net increase in period  6,471 (24) 6,447  3,371 (34) 3,337 
        

At 31 December 17,494 (74) 17,420  11,023 (50) 10,973 
 

The movement in the provision for life insurance during the period is further analysed as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

At 1 January 11,023 (50) 10,973  7,652 (16) 7,636 
        

Premiums written 7,741 (147) 7,594  4,859 (89) 4,770 
Liabilities released for payments 

on death, surrender or 
termination (960) 108 (852)  

 
 

(778) 

 
 

35 

 
 

(743) 
Accretion of interest 295 - 295  183 - 183 
Fees deducted from account 

balances (805) 15 (790)  
 

(923) 
 

20 
 

(903) 
Other movements 200 - 200  30 - 30 

        

At 31 December 17,494 (74) 17,420  11,023 (50) 10,973 
 

Other movements include in 2007 an increase in provisions of Ls 200 thousand due to additional bonus payable to 
policyholders and in 2006 an increase in provisions of Ls 30 thousand due to additional bonus payable to 
policyholders. 
 

The movement in the provisions for unearned premiums and unexpired risks in the period, dealt with in the income 
statement, is as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

At 1 January 222 (27) 195  55 (10) 45 
        

Net increase in period  47 (15) 32  167 (17) 150 
        

At 31 December 269 (42) 227  222 (27) 195 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 29  Liabilities to policyholders (continued) 
 
The movement in the provision for claims in the period, dealt with in the income statement, is as follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
 

At 1 January 16 - 16  1 - 1 
        

Net increase in period 13 - 13  15 - 15 
        

At 31 December 29 - 29  16 - 16 
 
The movement in financial liabilities of investment contracts in the period, dealt with in the income statement, is as 
follows: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Gross Reinsurance Net  Gross Reinsurance Net 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Net change in fair value of 
financial liabilities - - - 

  
(11) 

 
- 

 
(11) 

Investment income on assets 
covering financial liabilities - - - 

  
11 

 
- 

 
11 

Administrative charges of 
investment contracts 640 - 640 

  
6 

 
- 

 
6 

        

Total 640 - 640  6 - 6 
 
The value of the insurance liabilities is sensitive to changes in the principal assumptions used. Changes in the 
principal assumptions may cause a change in the value of insurance liabilities, which can result in a gain or loss in 
the income statement. 
 
The insurance liabilities are established on the basis of assumptions that are determined by mortality tables, 
morbidity assumptions and discount rates applied.  
 
Depending on the product line, the Group has used mortality tables of the Latvian Central Statistical Bureau for the 
years 2000 and 1992, statistics of the Latvian Ministry of Health and medical technology Agency for 1992, as well 
as the Group’s own statistical data on mortality for the years 1992-94. Morbidity assumptions are based upon 
statistics of the Latvian Ministry of Health statistics and medical technology Agency for 1992.  
 
Insurance liabilities are determined using discount rates consistent with the rules set by the Latvian Financial and 
Capital Market Commission, which specify that the discount rate shall not be greater than the lower of: 3%, or 60% 
of the long-term Latvian government bond yield, or 66% of the life insurance company’s investment yield in the 
prior accounting year. The applicable discount rate is most sensitive to changes in long-term government bond 
rates. At 31 December 2007 the discount rate applied was 2.5% (2.6%). 
 
 
 



AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2007 

 

 45 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 30 Deferred income tax liability 
 
Movements in the provision for deferred income tax for the period comprise the following: 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Opening balance 2,905 1,329  3,000 1,899 
Changes relating to 2005 - -  23 23 
Decrease in the deferred tax liability (592) (545)  (118) (593) 

Total provision for deferred income tax 2,313 784  2,905 1,329 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
      
Deferred income tax liabilities 3,329 1,789  3,896 2,284 
Accelerated tax depreciation 3,088 1,640  3,352 1,740 
Other differences in tax bases 241 149  544 544 

      
Deferred income tax assets 1,016 1,005  991 955 
Non-deductible allowances for loans 306 306  306 306 
Accrual for employee holiday 126 123  110 105 
Accrual for bonuses 371 363  344 313 
Losses to be covered in future periods 213 213  231 231 

      

Total provision for deferred income tax 2,313 784  2,905 1,329 
 

Deferred income tax does not arise in respect of the revaluation reserve on available-for-sale instruments because 
the respective instruments comprise securities in public circulation, the gain on which is non-taxable income for 
Latvian corporate income tax purposes. 
 
 
Note 31  Subordinated liabilities  
 
The Bank has signed subscription agreements for subordinated debt with Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB. As 
at 31 December 2007, subordinated floating rate debt in EUR equivalent to Ls 69,045 thousand (Ls 62,017 
thousand) was in issue. The EUR debt  matures in 2013 -2017.  
 
 
Note 32 Paid-in share capital   
 
The Bank had the following shareholders: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Paid-in 

share 
capital 

% of total 
paid-in 
capital 

 Paid-in 
share 

capital  

% of total 
paid-in 
capital 

 Ls ‘000   Ls ’000  
      
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  37,106 100.00  36,686 98.87 
Holders of GDRs issued in respect of the Bank’s 

shares (depository - the Bank of New York) 
 

- 
 

- 
  

121 
 

0.33 
Other shareholders - -  299 0.80 

Total  37,106 100.00  37,106 100.00 
 
As at 31 December 2007, the issued and paid-in share capital is divided into 37,106 thousand (37,106 thousand) 
ordinary shares with equal voting rights. All shares of the Bank have a par value of LVL 1 (LVL 1) each. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 
Note 33 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Contingent liabilities 

Outstanding guarantees 91,714 91,714  60,495 60,495 
Irrevocable letters of credit 3,649 3,649  7,496 7,496 

Total contingent liabilities 95,363 95,363  67,991 67,991 
 

Financial commitments 
Credit commitments  219,791 188,925  204,949 159,540 
Commitments for capital expenditure under contracts and 

other commitments 
 

133 
 

133 
  

525 
 

525 
Total financial commitments 219,924 189,058  205,474 160,065 

 
There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Group at 31 December 2007. No provision for 
liabilities has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant loss will arise. 
 

Assets amounting to Ls 63 thousand (Ls 120 thousand) are pledged for security deposits relating to futures 
derivatives and stock exchange membership.  
 
 
Note 34 Assets under management  
 
The Group, through the operations of its asset management subsidiary, SEB Unifondi, manages short- and long-
term investment assets on behalf of clients. The asset management operations include management of fund 
portfolios, including those arising in respect of Latvian Pillar 2 and Pillar 3 pension savings, discretionary asset 
management and management of the Euro-denominated fixed-income investment securities of the Bank. 
 

 31/12/07 31/12/06 
 Group  Group 
 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 
Assets under management  

Deposits in banks 68,170  54,589 
Fixed income securities 40,277  51,871 
Equity shares 3,624  897 
Investment funds 22,051  8,047 
Real estate 1,515  1,615 

Total assets under management 135,637  117,019 
 
 
Note 35 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
The table below provides a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      
Cash and demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia 353,464 353,464  169,423 169,423 
Demand deposits with credit institutions 26,026 25,671  133,727 133,546 

Total cash and cash equivalents 379,490 379,135  303,150 302,969 
 
Demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia include an obligatory reserve maintained in accordance with Bank of 
Latvia regulations. The regulations specify the average balance to be maintained on the Bank’s correspondent 
account with the Bank of Latvia during each month, whilst allowing funds in the account to be used in an 
unrestricted manner on individual days. For December 2007 the obligatory reserve requirement was Ls 206,410 
thousand (Ls 161,447 thousand). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 36  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 
The table below shows credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet items: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
      

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet 
assets are as follows: 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

Balances due from banks 251,039 237,609  212,704 205,504 
Loans and advances to customers 2,612,631 2,298,668  2,198,654 1,983,986 
Trading securities 24,417 24,417  34,827 34,827 
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 2,354 -  2,938 - 
Investment securities available-for-sale 80,612 80,568  86,225 86,099 
Derivative financial instruments 7,662 8,164  2,724 2,735 
Other assets 44,424 39,729  8,029 3,296 

      
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet 

items are as follows:      
Contingent liabilities 95,363 95,363  67,991 67,991 
Financial commitments 219,924 189,058  205,474 160,065 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 37  Currency analysis  
 
The following table provides the analysis of the Group’s assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity as well as 
commitments and contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2007 by currency profile: 
 
 Ls USD EUR Other 

currencies 
Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets      
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia 344,704 1,497 4,862 2,401 353,464 
Balances due from banks 79,407 79,570 82,778 9,284 251,039 
Loans and advances to customers 487,052 51,628 2,064,852 9,099 2,612,631 
Trading securities 8,857 2,113 12,772 1,827 25,569 
Securities designated at fair value through                              

profit or loss 
 

1,287 
 

2,315 
 

11,860 
 

79 
 

15,541 
Investment securities available-for-sale 28,893 626 51,722 - 81,241 
Derivative financial instruments 1,621 476 5,565 - 7,662 
Investment properties 425 - - - 425 
Non-current assets held for sale 48 - - - 48 
Intangible assets 8,736 - - - 8,736 
Property and equipment 27,402 - 32 - 27,434 
Other assets 43,198 137 1,062 27 44,424 
Total assets 1,031,630 138,362 2,235,505 22,717 3,428,214 
     
Liabilities and equity     
Debt securities in issue 2,338 - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks 32,466 5,756 1,606,072 11,263 1,655,557 
Due to customers 833,378 78,768 457,767 12,183 1,382,096 
Derivative financial instruments 2,083 505 4,499 - 7,087 
Liabilities to policyholders 15,093 3,043 11,514 - 29,650 
Current income tax liability 3,903 - - - 3,903 
Deferred income tax liability 2,313 - - - 2,313 
Other liabilities 15,535 382 7,726 252 23,895 
Subordinated liabilities - - 69,045 - 69,045 
Equity 252,214 626 (510) - 252,330 
Total liabilities and equity 1,159,323 89,080 2,156,113 23,698 3,428,214 
Net long/ (short) position on balance sheet (127,693) 49,282 79,392 (981) - 
     
Off-balance sheet claims arising from  foreign 

exchange 
    

Spot foreign exchange receivable  681 51,576 36,011 1,858 90,126 
Forward foreign exchange receivable 250,294 7,280 90,745 2,049 350,368 
Total foreign exchange receivable 250,975 58,856 126,756 3,907 440,494 
      
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign 

exchange 
     

Spot foreign exchange payable 38,817 24,316 24,826 1,586 89,545 
Forward foreign exchange payable 95,590 84,701 168,829 902 350,022 
Total foreign exchange payable 134,407 109,017 193,655 2,488 439,567 
Net long/ (short) position on foreign exchange 116,568 (50,161) (66,899) 1,419 927 
Net long/ (short) position  (11,125) (879) 12,493 438 927 
      

As at 31 December 2006      

Total assets 1,005,090 132,772 1,616,593 19,396 2,773,851 

Total liabilities and equity 1,072,289 108,976 1,575,077 17,509 2,773,851 

Net long/ (short) position on balance sheet (67,199) 23,796 41,516 1,887 - 

Net long/ (short) position on foreign exchange 47,657 (24,823) (21,882) (967) (15) 

Net long/ (short) position  (19,542) (1,027) 19,634 920 (15) 

 
 



AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2007 

 

 49 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 37  Currency analysis (continued) 
 
The following table provides the analysis of the Bank’s assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity as well as 
commitments and contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2007 by currency profile: 
 
 Ls USD EUR Other 

currencies 
Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets      
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia 344,704 1,497 4,862 2,401 353,464 
Balances due from banks 66,933 79,322 82,070 9,284 237,609 
Loans and advances to customers 459,512 51,610 1,778,593 8,953 2,298,668 
Trading securities 8,220 2,113 12,772 1,827 24,932 
Investment securities available-for-sale 28,845 626 51,723 - 81,194 
Derivative financial instruments 2,123 476 5,565 - 8,164 
Non-current assets held for sale 48 - - - 48 
Investments in subsidiaries 10,384 - - - 10,384 
Intangible assets 5,600 - - - 5,600 
Property and equipment 10,841 - - - 10,841 
Other assets 39,078 135 493 23 39,729 
Total assets 976,288 135,779 1,936,078 22,488 3,070,633 
     
Liabilities and equity     
Debt securities in issue 2,338 - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks 32,466 5,756 1,293,935 11,263 1,343,420 
Due to customers 835,280 78,851 458,426 12,184 1,384,741 
Derivative financial instruments 2,104 505 4,499 - 7,108 
Current income tax liability 3,401 - - - 3,401 
Deferred income tax liability 784 - - - 784 
Other liabilities 9,512 352 3,046 121 13,031 
Subordinated liabilities - - 69,045 - 69,045 
Equity 246,649 626 (510) - 246,765 
Total liabilities and equity 1,132,534 86,090 1,828,441 23,568 3,070,633 
Net long/ (short) position on balance sheet (156,246) 49,689 107,637 (1,080) - 
     
Off-balance sheet claims arising from  foreign 

exchange 
    

Spot foreign exchange receivable  681 51,576 36,011 1,858 90,126 
Forward foreign exchange receivable 275,403 7,928 96,422 2,049 381,802 
Total foreign exchange receivable 276,084 59,504 132,433 3,907 471,928 
      
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign 

exchange 
     

Spot foreign exchange payable 38,817 24,316 24,826 1,586 89,545 
Forward foreign exchange payable 101,942 84,701 193,428 902 380,973 
Total foreign exchange payable 140,759 109,017 218,254 2,488 470,518 
Net long/ (short) position on foreign exchange 135,325 (49,513) (85,821) 1,419 1,410 
Net long/ (short) position  (20,921) 176 21,816 339 1,410 
      

As at 31 December 2006      

Total assets 932,994 131,653 1,443,991 18,536 2,527,174 

Total liabilities and equity 1,051,873 107,554 1,350,270 17,477 2,527,174 

Net long/ (short) position on balance sheet (118,879) 24,099 93,721 1,059 - 

Net long/ (short) position on foreign exchange 89,095 (24,381) (64,050) (967) (303) 

Net long/ (short) position  (29,784) (282) 29,671 92 (303) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 38 Re-pricing maturity of assets and liabilities  
 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2007 based 
on the time remaining from the balance sheet date to the earlier of maturity and contractual re-pricing dates. 
 

  
Within 

1 month 

 
1-3 

months 

 
3-6  

months 

 
6-12 

months 

 
1-5   

years 

Over 
5 

years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
 

Total 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with the Bank of 

Latvia 315,476 - - - - - 37,988 353,464 
Balances due from banks 233,143 5,760 2,207 3,752 4,636 1,541 - 251,039 
Loans and advances to customers 923,906 1,119,362 195,872 125,671 214,175 822 32,823 2,612,631 
Trading securities - 14,744 9,631 42 - - 1,152 25,569 
Securities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 498 - 50 - 893 913 13,187 15,541 
Investment securities available-for-

sale 14,814 51,270 12,388 2,096 - 44 629 81,241 
Derivative financial instruments 616 541 587 857 4,010 1,051 - 7,662 
Investment properties - - - - - - 425 425 
Non-current assets held for sale - - - - - - 48 48 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 8,736 8,736 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 27,434 27,434 
Other assets - -- -- - - - 44,424 44,424 
Total assets 1,488,453 1,191,677 220,735 132,418 223,714 4,371 166,846 3,428,214 
         
Liabilities        
Debt securities in issue - - 2,338 - - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks 723,501 414,842 417,127 99,909 178 -  1,655,557 
Due to customers 1,017,800 166,923 80,361 67,295 45,298 259 4,160 1,382,096 
Derivative financial instruments 1,642 496 359 732 2,483 1,375 - 7,087 
Liabilities to policyholders - - - - - - 29,650 29,650 
Current income tax liability - - - - - - 3,903 3,903 
Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 2,313 2,313 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 23,895 23,895 
Subordinated liabilities 37,952 30,572 - - - - 521 69,045 
Total liabilities 1,780,895 612,833 500,185 167,936 47,959 1,634 64,442 3,175,884 
         
Equity - - - - - - 252,330 252,330 
         
Total liabilities and equity 1,780,895 612,833 500,185 167,936 47,959 1,634 316,772 3,428,214 
         
On balance sheet interest 

sensitivity analysis (292,442) 578,844 (279,450) (35,518) 175,755 2,737 (149,926) - 
   

As at 31 December 2006         
         
Total assets 1,143,987 1,135,636 121,302 91,712 120,138 44,623 116,453 2,773,851 
Total liabilities and equity 1,499,307 605,401 303,413 105,567 48,083 4,532 207,548 2,773,851 
         

On balance sheet interest 
sensitivity analysis (355,320) 530,235 (182,111) (13,855) 72,055 40,091 (91,095) - 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 38 Re-pricing maturity of assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
The table below allocates the Bank’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2007 based on 
the time remaining from the balance sheet date to the earlier of maturity and contractual re-pricing dates. 
 

  
Within 

1 month 

 
1-3 

months 

 
3-6  

months 

 
6-12 

months 

 
1-5   

years 

Over 
5 

years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
 

Total 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with the Bank of 

Latvia 315,476 - - - - - 37,988 353,464 
Balances due from banks 232,017 3,960 303 - 980 - 349 237,609 
Loans and advances to customers 613,043 1,120,387 194,399 124,753 218,739 798 26,549 2,298,668 
Trading securities - 14,743 9,631 43 - - 515 24,932 
Investment securities available-for-

sale 14,814 51,269 12,389 2,096 - - 626 81,194 
Derivative financial instruments 1,110 541 595 857 4,010 1,051 - 8,164 
Non-current assets held for sale - - - - - - 48 48 
Investments in subsidiaries - - - - - - 10,384 10,384 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 5,600 5,600 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 10,841 10,841 
Other assets - - - - - - 39,729 39,729 
Total assets 1,176,460 1,190,900 217,317 127,749 223,729 1,849 132,629 3,070,633 
         
Liabilities         
Debt securities in issue - - 2,338 - - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks 406,109 410,877 413,240 98,393 178 - 14,623 1,343,420 
Due to customers 1,019,437 166,984 80,408 67,395 46,096 259 4,162 1,384,741 
Derivative financial instruments 1,658 501 359 732 2,483 1,375  7,108 
Current income tax liability - - - - - - 3,401 3,401 
Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 784 784 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 13,031 13,031 
Subordinated liabilities 37,952 30,572 - - - - 521 69,045 
Total liabilities 1,465,156 608,934 496,345 166,520 48,757 1,634 36,522 2,823,868 
         
Equity - - - - - - 246,765 246,765 
         
Total liabilities and equity 1,465,156 608,934 496,345 166,520 48,757 1,634 283,287 3,070,633 
         
On balance sheet interest 

sensitivity analysis (288,696) 581,966 (279,028) (38,771) 174,972 215 (150,658) - 

   
As at 31 December 2006         
         
Total assets 931,923 1,134,605 120,190 90,872 117,944 42,035 89,605 2,527,174 

Total liabilities and equity 1,281,831 605,648 302,902 104,982 42,746 - 189,065 2,527,174 
         

On balance sheet interest 
sensitivity analysis (349,908) 528,957 (182,712) (14,110) 75,198 42,035 (99,460) - 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 39 Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile  
 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2007 based 
on the time remaining from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates. 
 

  
 

Overdue 

 
Within 

1 month 

 
1 – 3 

months 

 
3 - 6 

months 

 
6 -12 

months 

 
1-5 

years 

Over 5 
years  

and 
undated 

 
 

Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets 
Cash and balances with the Bank 

of Latvia - 353,464 - - - - - 353,464 
Balances due from banks - 233,144 5,760 2,206 3,752 4,636 1,541 251,039 
Loans and advances to customers 12,516 144,674 201,315 350,234 414,964 957,895 531,033 2,612,631 
Trading securities - 25,569 - - - - - 25,569 
Securities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss - 15,541 - - - - - 15,541 
Investment securities available-for-

sale - 80,612 - - - - 629 81,241 
Derivative financial instruments - 616 541 587 857 4,010 1,051 7,662 
Investment properties - - - - - - 425 425 
Non-current assets held for sale - - - 48 - - - 48 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 8,736 8,736 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 27,434 27,434 
Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 44,424 44,424 
Total assets 12,516 853,620 207,616 353,075 419,573 966,541 615,273 3,428,214 
         

Liabilities and equity 
Debt securities in issue - - - 2,338 - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks - 142,447 3,278 30,906 46,286 1,417,627 15,013 1,655,557 
Due to customers  - 1,021,960 166,923 80,361 67,295 45,298 259 1,382,096 
Derivative financial instruments - 1,642 496 359 732 2,483 1,375 7,087 
Liabilities to policyholders - 12,103 250 446 1,248 9,755 5,848 29,650 
Current income tax liability  -  -  -  -   -  - 3,903 3,903 
Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 2,313 2,313 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 23,895 23,895 
Subordinated liabilities - 521 - - - - 68,524 69,045 
Equity - - - - - - 252,330 252,330 
Total liabilities and equity - 1,178,673 170,947 114,410 115,561 1,475,163 373,460 3,428,214 
         

Commitments and contingent 
liabilities - 299,197 3,054 4,455 4,263 4,318 - 315,287 

         
Net liquidity 12,516 (624,250) 33,615 234,210 299,749 (512,940) 241,813 (315,287) 

         
As at 31 December 2006         
 

Total assets 13,347 604,508 121,751 307,834 405,430 937,264 383,717 2,773,851 
Total liabilities and equity - 1,085,941 110,972 113,655 72,184 1,112,831 278,268 2,773,851 
Commitments and contingent 

liabilities - 250,422 3,246 3,466 10,204 6,116 11 273,465 
         

Net liquidity 13,347 (731,855) 7,533 190,713 323,042 (181,683) 105,438 (273,465) 
 
In line with The Liquidity Compliance Rules approved by the Financial and Capital Market Commission, the trading 
securities and investment securities available-for-sale that can be sold at short notice without major losses, and 
the securities that can be used as collateral  for loans in the table are shown in the term group according to the 
term of sale of the respective security or the anticipated term of loan disbursement.     
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 39 Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (continued) 
 
The table below allocates the Bank’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2007 based on 
the time remaining from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates. 
 

  
 

Overdue 

 
Within 

1 month 

 
1 – 3 

months 

 
3 - 6 

months 

 
6 -12 

months 

 
1-5 

years 

Over 5 
years  

and 
undated 

 
 

Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets 
Cash and balances with the Bank 

of Latvia - 353,464 - - - - - 353,464 
Balances due from banks - 232,336 3,990 303 - 980 - 237,609 
Loans and advances to customers 6,814 121,445 175,456 324,639 372,545 777,861 519,908 2,298,668 
Trading securities - 24,932 - - - - - 24,932 
Investment securities available-for-

sale - 80,568 - - - - 626 81,194 
Derivative financial instruments - 1,110 541 595 857 4,010 1,051 8,164 
Non-current assets held for sale - - - 48 - - - 48 
Investments in subsidiaries - - - - - - 10,384 10,384 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 5,600 5,600 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 10,841 10,841 
Other assets - - - - - - 39,729 39,729 
Total assets 6,814 813,855 179,987 325,585 373,402 782,851 588,139 3,070,633 
         

Liabilities and equity 
Debt securities in issue - - - 2,338 - - - 2,338 
Balances due to banks - 142,447 3,278 30,906 42,690 1,109,086 15,013 1,343,420 
Due to customers - 1,023,599 166,984 80,408 67,395 46,096 259 1,384,741 
Derivative financial instruments - 1,658 501 359 732 2,483 1,375 7,108 
Current income tax liability - - - - - - 3,401 3,401 
Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 784 784 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 13,031 13,031 
Subordinated liabilities - 521 - - - - 68,524 69,045 
Equity - - - - - - 246,765 246,765 
Total liabilities and equity - 1,168,225 170,763 114,011 110,817 1,157,665 349,152 3,070,633 
         

Commitments and contingent 
liabilities - 268,413 3,051 4,451 4,255 4,251 - 284,421 

         
Net liquidity 6,814 (622,783) 6,173 207,123 258,330 (379,065) 238,987 (284,421) 

         
As at 31 December 2006         
 

Total assets 4,605 582,680 101,111 287,237 410,297 787,296 353,948 2,527,174 

Total liabilities and equity - 1,083,073 111,219 113,144 69,842 893,139 256,757 2,527,174 
Commitments and contingent 

liabilities - 205,197 3,238 3,454 10,180 5,987 - 228,056 
         
Net liquidity 4,605 (705,590) (13,346) 170,639 330,275 (111,830) 97,191 (228,056) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 39 Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (continued) 
 
The table below allocates the Group’s financial liabilities cash flows as at 31 December 2007: 
 
 Up to 1 

month 
1 - 3 

months 
3 - 6 

months 
6 - 12 

months 1 - 5 years 
Over 5 
years Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Debt securities in issue - - 2,400 - - - 2,400 
Balances due to banks 149,759 24,393 53,577 74,105 1,567,844 17,240 1,886,918 
Due to customers 1,021,960 166,923 80,361 67,295 45,298 259 1,382,096 

Liabilities to policyholders 51 126 270 1,009 8,934 1,584 11,974 
Other liabilities - - - - - 23,895 23,895 

Subordinated liabilities - 968 968 1,836 15,486 81,704 100,962 

Total 1,171,770 192,410 137,576 144,245 1,637,562 124,682 3,408,245 
 
 
The table below allocates the Bank’s financial liabilities cash flows as at 31 December 2007: 
 
 Up to 1 

month 
1 - 3 

months 
3 - 6 

months 
6 - 12 

months 1 - 5 years 
Over 5 
years Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Debt securities in issue - - 2,400 - - - 2,400 
Balances due to banks 136,006 24,393 53,577 70,509 1,259,303 17,240 1,561,028 
Due to customers 1,023,599 166,984 80,408 67,395 46,096 259 1,384,741 
Other liabilities - - - - - 13,031 13,031 
Subordinated liabilities - 968 968 1,836 15,486 81,704 100,962 
Total 1,159,605 192,345 137,353 139,740 1,320,885 112,234 3,062,162 
 
There are no comparatives disclosed for financial liabilities cash flows as at 31 December 2006 because it was not 
possible to obtain accurate information and the management considers that the difference between discounted 
cash flows presented in this note and undiscounted cash flows is not significant. 
 
The table below allocates the Group’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2007: 
  
 Up to 1 

month 
1 - 3 

months 
3 - 6 

months 
6 - 12 

months 
1 - 5 

years 
Over 5 
years Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Derivatives settled on a 
net basis 

       

Interest rate derivatives (2) (3) (5) (10) (69) - (89) 
        

Derivatives settled on a 
gross basis 

       

Interest rate derivatives        
outflow 351 - - - 1,403 351 2,105 
inflow 101 - 98 196 1,566 98 2,059 

Foreign exchange 
derivatives 

       

outflow 178,058 95,089 68,380 7,793 703 - 350,023 
inflow 177,339 95,488 68,597 8,204 740 - 350,368 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AS SEB Latvijas Unibanka 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2007 

 

 55 

 
 
 
 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 39 Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (continued) 
 
 
The table below allocates the Bank’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2007: 
  
 Up to 1 

month 
1 - 3 

months 
3 - 6 

months 
6 - 12 

months 
1 - 5 

years 
Over 5 
years Total 

 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
        

Derivatives settled on a 
net basis 

       

Interest rate derivatives (2) (3) (5) (10) (69) - (89) 
        

Derivatives settled on a 
gross basis 

       

Interest rate derivatives        
outflow 351 - - - 1,403 351 2,105 
inflow 101 - 98 196 1,566 98 2,059 

Foreign exchange 
derivatives 

       

outflow 207,884 95,489 69,104 7,793 703 - 380,973 
inflow 207,666 95,882 69,310 8,204 740 - 381,802 

 
 
Note 40 Capital adequacy 
 
Based on the requirements set by the Financial and Capital Market Commission (FCMC), the Group’s and the 
Bank’s equity to be utilised in the capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2007 has been calculated as follows: 
 
 Group Bank 

Description Ls ’000 Ls ’000 
   
Tier 1  

- paid-in share capital 37,106 37,106 
- share premium 3,565 3,565 
- legal and other reserves 203 203 
- audited retained earnings 138,623 133,472 
- audited profit for the current period and negative revaluation reserve on 

investment securities available-for-sale 73,619 72,419 
- intangible assets  (5,931) (5,600) 

Total Tier 1  247,185 241,165 
   
Tier 2   

- subordinated capital (restricted to 50% of Tier 1) 68,523 68,523 
Total Tier 2 68,523 68,523 

   
Deductions from capital    

- investment in insurance companies 6,019 6,019 
- investment in subordinated capital of insurance companies 800 800 

 6,819 6,819 
 

  

Capital base 308,889 302,869 
 
The total of Tier 2 may not exceed the total of Tier 1. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 40 Capital adequacy (continued) 
 
The following table shows the Group’s asset weightings used in calculation of capital adequacy ratio according to 
the FCMC requirements and calculation of the Group’s capital adequacy ratio according to the FCMC 
requirements: 
 

 Credit 
equiva-

lent Balance 

Risk 
weight-

ing 

Risk 
weighted 

assets 
  Ls ‘000 % Ls ‘000 

Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  37,988 0% - 
Claims on A zone Central Governments and Central Banks  357,781 0% - 
Claims guaranteed by A zone Central Governments and Central Banks   22,515 0% - 
Claims secured by deposit  2,143 0% - 
Claims on A zone Local Governments   14,385 20% 2,877 
Claims guaranteed by A zone Local Governments   1,620 20% 324 
Claims on A zone credit institutions   275,894 20% 55,179 
Claims guaranteed by A zone credit institutions   55,001 20% 11,000 
Prepayments and accrued income   4,185 50% 2,093 
Loans fully secured by mortgage on residential property   397,063 50% 198,532 
Claims on B zone credit institutions   467 100% 467 
Claims on borrowers who are not credit institutions, Central Governments, 

Central Banks, Local Governments, except for claims with a lower risk 
weighting considering their collateral  

 
2,117,803 

 
100% 

 
2,117,803 

Investments in equity shares  766 100% 766 
Property and equipment  27,289 100% 27,289 
Other assets  38,791 100% 38,791 

     
Deductions from capital     

-intangible assets  5,656 *  
-positive goodwill   275 *  
-investment in insurance company   6,819 *  

Assets included in market risk capital requirements calculation     
-derivatives  7,662 *  
-trading securities  25,569 *  

Assets not included in capital requirements calculation     
-insurance company assets   28,542 *  

Total assets  3,428,214  2,455,121 
     

Commitments and contingent liabilities     
Agreements on buying assets in certain future date  100% 133 100% 133 

Guarantees      
100% risk weighted  100% 91,714 100% 91,714 

Irrevocable letters of credit     
100% risk weighted 50% 3,649 100% 1,825 

Credit commitments     
0% risk weighted 50% 285 0% 0 
20% risk weighted 50% 175 20% 18 
50% risk weighted 50% 3,880 50% 970 
100% risk weighted 50% 215,451 100% 107,726 

Total commitments and contingent liabilities  315,287  202,386 
     
Calculation of capital requirements      

Capital requirement for the Group’s portfolio credit risk  8%   212,601 
Capital requirements for market risk      

-capital requirement for foreign currency risk     3,371 
-capital requirement for position risk    540 
-capital requirement for counterparty risk    412 

Capital requirement for the Group’s portfolio credit risk and market risk     216,924 

Capital base    308,889 

Capital adequacy ratio ([Capital base] : [Capital requirement] x 8%)    11.39% 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 40 Capital adequacy (continued) 
 
The following table shows the Bank’s asset weightings used in calculation of capital adequacy ratio according to 
the FCMC requirements and calculation of the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio according to the FCMC requirements: 
 

 Credit 
equiva-

lent Balance 

Risk 
weight-

ing 

Risk 
weighted 

assets 
  Ls ‘000 % Ls ‘000 

Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  37,988 0% - 
Claims on A zone Central Governments and Central Banks  357,781 0% - 
Claims guaranteed by A zone Central Governments and Central Banks   22,515 0% - 
Claims secured by deposit  2,143 0% - 
Claims on A zone Local Governments   12,456 20% 2,491 
Claims guaranteed by A zone Local Governments   1,620 20% 324 
Claims on A zone credit institutions   275,056 20% 55,011 
Claims guaranteed by A zone credit institutions   55,001 20% 11,000 
Prepayments and accrued income   2,459 50% 1,230 
Loans fully secured by mortgage on residential property   397,064 50% 198,532 
Claims on B zone credit institutions   467 100% 467 
Claims on borrowers who are not credit institutions, Central Governments, 

Central Banks, Local Governments, except for claims with a lower risk 
weighting considering their collateral  

 
1,806,992 

 
100% 

 
1,806,992 

Investments in equity shares  5,127 100% 5,127 
Property and equipment  10,839 100% 10,839 
Other assets  37,610 100% 37,610 

     
Deductions from capital     

-intangible assets  5,600 *  
-investment in insurance company  6,819 *  

Assets included in market risk capital requirements calculation     
-derivatives  8,164 *  
-trading securities  24,932 *  

Total assets  3,070,633  2,129,623 
     

Commitments and contingent liabilities     
Agreements on buying assets in certain future date  100% 133 100% 133 

Guarantees      
100% risk weighted  100% 91,714 100% 91,714 

Irrevocable letters of credit     
100% risk weighted 50% 3,649 100% 1,825 

Credit commitments     
0% risk weighted 50% 285 0% 0 
20% risk weighted 50% 175 20% 18 
50% risk weighted 50% 3,880 50% 970 
100% risk weighted 50% 184,585 100% 92,293 

Total commitments and contingent liabilities  284,421  186,953 
     
Calculation of capital requirements      

Capital requirement for the Bank’s portfolio credit risk  8%   185,326 
Capital requirements for market risk      

-capital requirement for foreign currency risk     1,795 
-capital requirement for position risk    540 
-capital requirement for counterparty risk    401 

Capital requirement for the Bank’s portfolio credit risk and market risk     188,062 

Capital base    302,869 

Capital adequacy ratio ([Capital base] : [Capital requirement] x 8%)    12.88% 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 41 Related party transactions  
 
Related parties are defined as shareholders who have significant influence over the Bank and key management 
personnel (comprising members of the Council and Board of Directors, branch managers and heads of separate 
structural units, together with their close relatives), as well as companies in which they have a controlling interest 
or significant influence.  
 
The following balances were held with related parties arising in respect of key management personnel:  
 

  31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Terms Group Bank  Group Bank 
 % Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
       
Total credit exposure  3.40 -13.11 9,329 9,329  7,196 7,196 

 
 
Balances due from related credit institutions are analysed as follows: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
  

Correspondent accounts with the Bank’s Parent  6,167 6,167  853 853 
Correspondent accounts with other credit institutions of the 

SEB Group 531 531  
 

71 
 

71 
Total correspondent accounts 6,698 6,698  924 924 
      
Term deposits at the Bank’s Parent  123,799 123,799  88,619 88,619 
Term deposits at other credit institutions of the SEB Group 179 179  98 98 

Total term deposits 123,978 123,978  88,717 88,717 
      

Total balances due from related credit institutions 130,676 130,676  89,641 89,641 
 
 
Balances due to related credit institutions are analysed as follows: 
 

 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
  
Parent’s correspondent accounts with Bank 272 272  540 540 
Correspondent accounts of other credit institutions of the 

SEB Group 2,799 2,799  
 

2,472 
 

2,472 
Total correspondent accounts 3,071 3,071  3,012 3,012 
      
Parent’s term deposits  43,514 43,514  87,735 87,735 
Other SEB Group deposits  5,023 5,023  3,917 3,917 
Long-term borrowings from Parent  1,488,787 1,180,246  1,081,942 869,724 
Subordinated liabilities 69,045 69,045  62,017 62,017 

      

Total balances due to related credit institutions 1,609,440 1,300,899  1,238,623 1,026,405 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 41 Related party transactions (continued) 
 
The Bank’s income / expenses transactions with its related companies are analysed as follows: 
 
 2007  2006 
 Parent Other 

entities 
 Parent Other 

entities 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 

      

Interest income from money market transactions 6,149 32  4,189 9 
Interest income from securities 1,475 64  575 78 
Interest income from derivative financial instruments 352 -  140 - 
Commission income 652 37  171 11 
Rental income 11 -  - 3 
Payments for services 110 3  40 10 
Interest expense on subordinated liabilities (3,472) -  (2,004) - 
Interest expense on credit resources (42,958) -  (25,964) - 
Interest expense on deposits (3,814) (281)  (3,330) (182) 
Interest expense on derivative financial instruments (352) -  (180) - 
Commission expense (165) (75)  (73) (47) 
Fee for consultations, seminars, training courses (326) (477)  (520) (166) 
Insurance premiums - (178)  (15) (153) 

Subtotal (42,338) (875)  (26,971) (437) 
 
On 27 December 2001 the Bank and its subsidiary SIA Unil�zings signed an agreement according to which the 
Bank, every quarter, carries out an assessment of the leasing and factoring portfolio of SIA Unil�zings. Under the 
agreement SIA Unil�zings sells to the Bank such leasing and factoring receivables as are considered doubtful. The 
Bank has provided Ls 327 thousand (Ls 762 thousand) of allowances in 2007 to meet its obligation to SIA 
Unil�zings under this agreement. 
 
 
Note 42 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  
 
In respect of financial assets and liabilities held in the Group’s balance sheet at carrying values other than fair 
value, in the opinion of Management the fair value of those financial assets and liabilities differ from their carrying 
values, as follows:  
 31/12/07  31/12/06 
 Book value Fair value  Book value Fair value 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
Assets      
Balances due from banks 251,039 249,444  212,704 213,128 
Loans and advances to customers 2,612,631 2,613,652  2,198,654 2,198,654 
  

Liabilities    
Debt securities in issue 2,338 2,338  1,975 1,975 
Balances due to banks 1,655,557 1,655,537  1,329,249 1,329,141 
Due to customers 1,382,096 1,403,612  1,168,292 1,180,065 

 
In assessing the differences of fair value to carrying value, management has performed discounted cash flow 
analysis where financial assets and liabilities are at fixed rates of interest for fixed period. All items where interest 
rates are pegged to floating market interest rates have not been recalculated; the carrying value is considered 
equal to fair value. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 
Note 43 Contingent liabilities  
 
The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 3 years subsequent to the reported tax 
year and may impose additional tax assessments and penalties, if any. The Group's management is not aware of 
any circumstances which may give rise to a potential material liability in this respect. 
 
 
Note 44 Movement in revaluation reserve on investment securities available for sale 
 

 2007  2006 
 Group Bank  Group Bank 
 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 
  
At 1 January  (2,293) (2,284)  940 940 
Net losses from changes in fair value  (1,433) (1,440)  (3,233) (3,224) 
Net losses transferred to net profit on disposal 51 51  - - 
At 31 December (3,675) (3,673)  (2,293) (2,284) 

 


